


 
 
November 28, 2017 
 
 
To the Board of Trustees 
Northfield Township 
8350 Main Street 
Whitmore Lake, Michigan 48189 

 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Northfield 
Township as of and for the year ended June 30, 2017, in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America, we considered Northfield Township’s internal control over 
financial reporting as a basis for designing auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances 
for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Township’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Township’s internal control. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be significant deficiencies or 
material weaknesses and therefore material weakness or significant deficiencies may exist that were not 
identified.  However, as discussed below, we identified deficiencies in internal control that we consider to 
be material weaknesses: 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency or combination 
of deficiencies in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  
We consider the following deficiencies in Northfield Township’s internal control to be material 
weaknesses. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Northfield Township 
Page 2     
 
 

1. Establish Control over the Financial Reporting Process 
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal controls, including 
monitoring, and for the fair presentation in the financial statements of financial position, results of 
operations, and cash flows, including the notes to financial statements, in conformity with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
At times, management may choose to outsource certain accounting functions due to cost or 
training considerations.  Such accounting functions and service providers must be governed by the 
control policies and procedures of the Township.  Management is as responsible for outsourced 
functions performed by a service provider as it would be if your personnel performed such 
functions.  Specifically, management is responsible for management decisions and functions: for 
designating an individual with suitable skill, knowledge, or experience to oversee any outsourced 
services; and for evaluating the adequacy and results of those services and accepting responsibility 
for them. 
 
As part of the audit, management requested us to prepare a draft of your financial statements, 
including the related notes to financial statements.  Management reviewed, approved, and 
accepted responsibility for those financial statements prior to their issuance; however, 
management did not perform a detailed review of the financial statements.  The absence of this 
control procedure is considered a material weakness because the potential exists that a material 
misstatement of the financial statements could occur and not be prevented or detected by the 
Township's internal control. 
 
The existence of significant deficiencies or material weaknesses may already be known to 
management and may represent a conscious decision by management or those charged with 
governance to accept that degree of risk because of cost or other considerations.  Management is 
responsible for making decisions concerning costs and the related benefits.  We are responsible to 
communicate significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in accordance with professional 
standards regardless of management's decisions. 
 
Response by Management 
Management believes the perceived benefit of more control over the financial reporting process   
does not exceed the related cost.  Therefore, management has chosen to continue to request the 
auditors to prepare the financial statements.  Management has read, reviewed, understands and 
takes responsibility of the financial statements. 
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2. Segregate Accounting Duties 
A good system of internal control provides for a proper segregation of the accounting functions.  
The Township does not have the proper segregation of duties over cash receipts and 
disbursements, accounts receivable, and accounts payable.  Proper segregation is not always 
possible in a small organization, but limited segregation to the extent possible can and should be 
implemented to reduce the risk of errors or fraud.  We recommend that management review the 
current assignment of accounting functions.  Where possible, duties should be segregated to 
reduce the risk or errors or fraud. 
 
Response by Management 
Management has reviewed and continues to review the current assignment of accounting 
functions.  Management believes that the cost of hiring of additional personnel will not 
substantiate the conceived benefits.  However, management will continue to review methods of 
segregating duties without hiring additional personnel with the current staff. 
 

Other Matters 
 

• In June of 2014, the Township approved a Fund Balance Policy.  The policy states that the “Goal of 
the Township Board was to maintain a minimum unassigned fund balance of no less than 85% of 
General Fund expenditures.”  Currently the fund balance is below the proposed goal.   We 
recommend coming up with a plan to meet this goal or consider if the current fund balance policy 
needs to be changed.  
 

• The Township should update its fixed asset schedules and take a physical inventory of all assets 
including properties currently owned and recently purchased. 

 

• In the current Tax Fund there are checks that have been outstanding for several years.  These 
should be reissued or escheated to the State of Michigan. 
 

• A Police Officer’s account is used to collect funds for flowers in case an incident occurs to an 
officer.  The account is using the Township Federal Identification number and should be included 
as part of the Township’s funds and included in the general ledger.  If it is not a Township account 
it should not use the Township Federal Identification number.   
 

• We found instances where timesheets did not have adequate approval.  We recommend that all 
employees paid hourly are reviewed and signed off.   
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• The Township has begun the process of implementing the State of Michigan’s new uniform chart 
of accounts. 

 

• The Township has a receivable in various funds for delinquent personal property taxes.  The 
Township should evaluate whether these are deemed to be still collectable.  Any delinquent 
personal property taxes over five years old should be expunged. 
 

• There were some escrow balances in the Trust and Agency Fund that were overdrawn.  Effort 
should be made to collect on those balances or write them off. 
 

• There were instances where expenditures exceeded the budget.  The Township should amend the 
budget prior to making expenditures in excess of the budget. 

 
 
Conclusion 
 

Thank you for your assistance and hospitality toward our firm while conducting the audit of Northfield 

Township. 
 
If you should have any questions, comments or concerns please do not hesitate to call us. 
 
This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, Township Board of 
Trustees, and others with the organization, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone 
other than the specified parties. 
 

 
 

PFEFFER, HANNIFORD & PALKA 
Certified Public Accountants 
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Northfield Township 
General Fund Revenues 

For The Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Taxes 

$ 263,055 

Charges for 

Services 

$ 130,107 

State Revenue Sources 

$ 690,176 

Other 

$ 56,377 

Total Revenues = $ 1,387,068 

Tax 

Administration 

Fees 

$ 150,104 

Cable fees 

$ 97,249 



Northfield Township 
General Fund Expenditures 

For The Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Total Expenditures $ 1,926,219 
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Northfield Township 
General Fund 

Fund Balance Comparison 

June 30, 1992 - June 30, 2017 
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Northfield Township 
Law Enforcement Fund Revenues 

For The Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Taxes 

$ 1,480,666 

Charges for 

Services 

 $ 25,558 

Fees, 

Grants, 

Other 

$ 31,508 

Total Revenues = $ 1,562,960 

State 

Revenue 

Sources 

$ 25,228 



Northfield Township 
Law Enforcement Fund Expenditures 

For The Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Total Expenditures = $ 1,571,870 

Personnel 

 $ 1,210,593 

Other 

 $ 124,826  

Rent 

 $ 84,695 

Dispatch 

 $ 63,347  

Overhead 

 $ 33,311 

Insurance 

 $ 55,098  



Northfield Township 
Law Enforcement Fund 

Fund Balance Comparison 

June 30, 2001 - June 30, 2017 
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Grant 

Income 

$ 284,357 
State Revenue 

Source 

$ 11,282 

Northfield Township 
Fire Fund Revenues  

For The Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Taxes 

$ 632,987 

Other 

$ 10,882 

Total Revenues = $ 960,139 

Charges for 

Services 

$ 20,631 



Northfield Township 
Fire Fund Expenditures 

For The Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Total Expenditures = $ 937,943 

Personnel 

$ 358,618 

Overhead 

$ 33,311 

Building lease 

$ 84,695 

Grant Expense 

$ 296,374 

Other 

$ 41,085 

Vehicle 

$ 73,984 

Insurance 

$ 49,876 



Northfield Township 
Fire Fund 

Fund Balance Comparison 

June 30, 2001 - June 30, 2017 

Note : The fiscal year ending June 30, 2009 the Fire Protection and Medical Rescue funds were consolidated into one fund. 
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 INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 
 
 
November 28, 2017 
 
To the Board of Trustees  
Northfield Township 
8350 Main Street 
Whitmore Lake, Michigan  48189 
 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Northfield Township, Michigan, as of and for the 
year ended June 30, 2017, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
Township’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor's Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  Those standards require that 
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinions. 
 
 



 

 

Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial 
position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining 
fund information of Northfield Township, Michigan, as of June 30, 2017, and the respective changes in financial 
position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's discussion 
and analysis and budgetary comparison information on pages 9 -13 and 54 - 58 be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements.  Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing 
the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain 
limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing 
the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the 
basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do 
not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us 
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 
Northfield Township, Michigan's basic financial statements.  The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial 
statements, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial 
statements. 
 
The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements are the responsibility of management and were 
derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements.  Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America.  In our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements are 
fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 

 
PFEFFER, HANNIFORD & PALKA 
Certified Public Accountants 
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Management Discussion and Analysis 
June 30, 2017 

 
 

Within this section of Northfield Township’s annual financial report, the Township’s management is providing a 
narrative discussion and analysis of the financial activities of the Township for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2017.  This narrative discusses and analyzes the activity within the context of the accompanying financial 
statements and disclosures following this section.  The discussion focuses on the Township’s primary government 
and, unless otherwise noted, component units reported separately from the primary government are not 
included. 
 
Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis introduces the Township’s basic financial statements.  The basic financial 
statements include government-wide financial statements, fund financial statements, and notes to the financial 
statements.  The Township also includes in this report additional information to supplement the basic financial 
statements. 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements 
 
The Township’s annual reports include two government-wide financial statements.  These statements provide 
both long-term and short-term information about the Township’s overall status.  Financial reporting at this level 
uses a perspective similar to that found in the private sector with its basis in full accrual accounting and 
elimination or reclassification of internal activities. 
 
The first of these government-wide statements is the Statement of Net Position.  This is the Township-wide 
statement of position presenting information that includes all the Township’s assets and liabilities, with the 
difference reported as net position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful 
indicator of whether the financial position of the Township as a whole is improving or deteriorating.  Evaluation 
of the overall health of the Township may extend to various non-financial factors as well. 
 
The second government-wide statement is the Statement of Activities which reports how the Township’s net 
position changed during the current fiscal year.  The design of this statement is to show the financial reliance of 
the Township’s distinct activities or functions on the revenues generated by the Township. 
 
Both government-wide financial statements distinguish governmental activities of the Township that are 
principally supported by taxes and revenue sharing from the business-type activities that are intended to recover 
all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges.  Governmental activities include such 
activities as general government, public safety, and planning and zoning departments.  Business-type activities 
include sewer system operations.  Fiduciary activities such as tax collection are not included in the government-
wide statements since these assets are not available to fund Township programs. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
A fund is an accountability unit used to maintain control over resources segregated for specific activities or 
objectives.  The Township uses funds to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related laws and 
regulations.  Within the basic financial statements, fund financial statements focus on the Township’s most 
significant funds rather than the Township as a whole.  Major funds are separately reported while all others are 
combined into a single, aggregated presentation.  Individual fund data for non-major funds is provided in the 
combining statements later in this report as other supplementary information. 
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The Township has three kinds of funds: 
 
Governmental funds are reported in the financial statements and encompass essentially the same functions as 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements except with a different focus on the 
financial activity.  These statements report short-term fiscal accountability focusing on the use of spendable 
resources and balances of these resources available at the end of the year.  They are useful in evaluating annual 
financing requirements of governmental programs and the commitment of spendable resources for the near-
term.  Since the focus of the government-wide financial statements includes a long-term view, a reconciliation of 
these fund balances has been completed to detail its relation to net position. 
 
Proprietary funds are reported in the fund financial statements and are used to account for operations (a) that 
are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises - where the intent of the governing 
body is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the public on a 
continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges; or (b) where the governing body has 
decided that periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for 
capital maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability or other purposes. 
 
Fiduciary funds are reported in the fiduciary fund financial statements, but are excluded from the government-
wide statements.  Fiduciary fund financial statements report resources that are not available to fund Township 
activities.   
 
Notes to the financial statements 
 
The accompanying notes to the financial statements provide information essential to a full understanding of both 
the government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 
Other information 
 
In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain required 
supplementary information.  Other supplementary information includes detail by fund for receivables, payables, 
transfers, and payments within the reporting entity.  
 
Major funds are reported in the basic financial statements as discussed.  Combining and individual statements 
and schedules for non-major funds are presented in a subsequent section of this report. 
 
Financial Analysis of the Township as a Whole 
 
The Township’s net position at the end of the fiscal year was $18,165,266.  This is a $531,084 increase over last 
year’s net position of $17,634,182.  This increase is typical for the Township.  
 
 



 

  11  

The following tables provide a summary of the Township’s financial activities and changes in net position: 
 

Summary of Net Position 

6/30/2017 6/30/2016 6/30/2017 6/30/2016 6/30/2017 6/30/2016

Assets

Current and other assets 3,016,158$      3,288,876$      3,390,071$      3,534,045$      6,406,229$      6,822,921$      

Capital assets 7,634,588         7,055,815 8,903,481         9,056,508 16,538,069      16,112,323

        Total assets 10,650,746      10,344,691 12,293,552      12,590,553 22,944,298      22,935,244

Deferred outflows of resources

Pension 134,285            269,017 134,285            269,017

Liabilities

Other liabilities 825,613            656,859 119,365            38,220 944,978            695,079

Long-term liabilities 2,700,310         3,145,607 1,224,690         1,729,393 3,925,000         4,875,000

        Total liabilities 3,525,923         3,802,466 1,344,055         1,767,613 4,869,978         5,570,079

Deferred inflows of resources

Pension 43,339              43,339              

Net position:

Invested in capital assets, net of debt 4,934,278         3,910,208 7,678,791         7,327,115 12,613,069      11,237,323

Restricted 1,337,695         1,248,417 2,061,651         2,470,218 3,399,346         3,718,635

Unrestricted 943,796            1,652,617 1,209,055         1,025,607 2,152,851         2,678,224

Total net position 7,215,769$      6,811,242$      10,949,497$    10,822,940$    18,165,266$    17,634,182$    

TotalActivities

Governmental Business-type

Activities
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Summary of Changes in Net Position 
 

6/30/2017 6/30/2016 6/30/2017 6/30/2016 6/30/2017 6/30/2016

Revenues:

Program revenues:

Charges for services 505,407$         402,857$         1,356,181$      2,145,579$      1,861,588$      2,548,436$      

Operating grants and contributions 287,057 1,500 287,057 1,500

Capital grants and contributions 28,400 25,560 28,400 25,560

General revenues:

State shared revenues 731,574 649,431 731,574 649,431

Property taxes 2,641,385 2,586,008 2,641,385 2,586,008

Interest 2,377 1,007 75,200              55,314              77,577 56,321

Other 369,173 502,300 5,589 9,387 374,762 511,687

Gain on sale of assets 11,740 11,740

        Total revenues 4,536,973 4,154,843 1,465,370 2,235,840 6,002,343 6,390,683

Expenses

General government 993,629 967,539 993,629 967,539

Fire protection 949,852 675,496 949,852 675,496

Police protection 1,790,994 1,776,194 1,790,994 1,776,194

Community center/community development 147,549 140,639 147,549 140,639

Public works/roads 176,469 167,815 176,469 167,815

Interest on long-term debt 73,953 86,843 73,953 86,843

Sewer system 1,338,813 1,240,403 1,338,813 1,240,403

Total expenses 4,132,446 3,814,526 1,338,813 1,240,403 5,471,259 5,054,929

Changes in net position 404,527 340,317 126,557 995,437 531,084 1,335,754

Beginning net position 6,811,242 6,470,925 10,822,940 9,827,503 17,634,182 16,298,428

Ending net position 7,215,769$      6,811,242$      10,949,497$    10,822,940$    18,165,266$    17,634,182$    

TotalActivities

Governmental Business-type

Activities
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Financial Analysis of the Township’s Funds 
 

The Township’s General Fund had expenditures over revenues totaling $814,151.  This is due to large expenses 
for roads and pathways.  The General Fund also made a large transfer to the Fire Fund. 
 

The other major governmental funds of the Township are the Law Enforcement and Fire Fund.   
 

The revenues exceeded expenditures for the Fire Fund in the amount of $297,196 which is a large increase 
compared to the prior year.  This is due to a large grant and a large transfer in. 
 

The Law Enforcement Fund had revenues over expenditures of $26,090 which is a smaller increase compared to 
last year.  This is due to an increase in tax revenue and a reimbursement from the State for personal property 
taxes. 
 

The Township’s sole proprietary fund, the Sewage Disposal System Fund, reported net gain of $126,557.  The 
slight increase is due to a slight increase in billings and SAD interest.  
 

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 

The General Fund adopted its budget prior to the fiscal year in accordance with Public Act 493 of 2000.  Total 
actual expenditures were less than budgeted appropriations by $174,663.  The budget was amended during the 
year to account for immaterial amounts in order to bring it closer to economic reality.   
 

Capital Asset and Debt Administration 
 
The governmental funds purchased $881,854 of capital assets.  Acquisitions included:  
 

360,728$           Land purchase

336,436             Non-motorized trail (construction in progress)

184,690             Equipment

 
Additionally, the Township acquired land worth $72,235 at no cost to the Township.  
 
The business-type funds spent $196,711 to complete a sewer expansion project that was classified as 
construction in progress in the prior year.  The sewer expansion project was completed during the year and 
capitalized at a total cost of $637,331.  This expansion relates to the Whitmore Lake SAD charges. 
 

The governmental funds made debt payments of $445,297 during the year making the total outstanding of 
$2,700,310. 
 

The business-type funds made debt payments of $504,703 during the year making the total outstanding of 
$1,224,690. 

 

Economic Conditions and Future Activities 
 

After several years of fluctuations in State Shared Revenues, the Township saw an increase of 6% this year.  The 
Township also saw a new source of State revenue for delinquent tax reimbursement of $45,972.  
 
Management is hopeful taxable values continue to increase as they have this year. 
 

Contacting the Township’s Financial Management 
 
This report is designed to provide a general overview of the Township’s financial position and comply with 
finance-related regulations.  If you have any further questions about this report or request additional information 
please contact Northfield Township at 8350 Main Street, Whitmore Lake, MI 48189. 
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NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 
JUNE 30, 2017 

Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total

ASSETS

Cash and investments 2,710,874$     912,902$         3,623,776$     

Cash and investments - restricted 917,250 917,250

Receivables

  Taxes 10,569 10,569

  State shared revenues 118,063 118,063

  Accounts 24,396 411,887 436,283

  Interest 396 396

  Special assessments - restricted 1,144,401 1,144,401

Prepaid expenses 123,348 123,348

Intergovernmental (3,631) 3,631

Land contract receivable

  Current 3,214 3,214

  Non-current 28,929 28,929

Capital assets, not being depreciated

  Non-depreciated 1,189,667 226,918 1,416,585

  Depreciated, net 6,444,921 8,676,563 15,121,484

Total assets 10,650,746 12,293,552 22,944,298

DEFERRED OUTLFOW OF RESOURCES

Pension investment activities 52,575 52,575

Pension change in actuarial assumptions 50,444 50,444

Pension contributions 31,266 31,266

Total deferred outflow of resources 134,285 134,285

DEFERRED INLFOW OF RESOURCES

Pension expense 43,339 43,339

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 386,620 83,248 469,868

Accrued compensated absences 226,267 36,117 262,384           

Net pension liability 212,726 212,726           

Long term obligations

Due within one year 486,404 113,596 600,000

Due beyond one year 2,213,906 1,111,094 3,325,000

Total liabilities 3,525,923 1,344,055 4,869,978

NET POSITION

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 4,934,278 7,678,791 12,613,069

Restricted 1,337,695 2,061,651 3,399,346

Unrestricted 943,796 1,209,055 2,152,851

Total net position 7,215,769$     10,949,497$   18,165,266$   

Primary Government

 
The notes of the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 

 

Operating

Charges for Grants and Capital Governmental Business-type

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
General government (993,629)$            451,592$     $                    $                    (542,037)$          $  (542,037)$      

Fire protection (949,852) 20,631 285,557 (643,664) (643,664)

Police protection (1,790,994) 33,184 1,500 (1,756,310) (1,756,310)

Community development (2,500) (2,500) (2,500)

Community center/recreation (145,049) (145,049) (145,049)

Public works/roads (176,469) (176,469) (176,469)

Interest on long-term debt (73,953) (73,953) (73,953)

Total governmental (4,132,446) 505,407 287,057 (3,339,982) (3,339,982)

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES

Sewer system (1,338,813) 1,356,181 28,400 45,768 45,768

Total (5,471,259)$         1,861,588$  287,057$     28,400$        (3,339,982)        45,768              (3,294,214)     

2,641,385 2,641,385
731,574 731,574

2,377 2,631 5,008
72,569 72,569

Franchise fees 97,249 97,249
21,160 21,160

130,081 130,081
48,448 5,589 54,037
72,235 72,235

3,744,509 80,789 3,825,298

404,527 126,557 531,084

6,811,242 10,822,940 17,634,182

7,215,769$       10,949,497$    18,165,266$  Net position, June 30, 2017

Net position, July 1, 2016

Interest income - special assessments

Rental income

Other income
Donated assets

Total general revenues

Changes in net position

 Changes in Net Positon
Net (Expenses) Revenue and 

Fines and forfeitures

General revenues
Property taxes
State revenue sources

Interest income - cash and equivalents

Program Revenues

 
The notes of the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

BALANCE SHEET 
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

JUNE 30, 2017 
 

Law
General Fire Enforcement Nonmajor

Fund Fund Fund Funds Totals

ASSETS
Cash and investments 858,482$          828,728$          521,821$           501,843$          2,710,874$       

Receivables
Taxes receivable 1,641 2,412 5,423 1,093 10,569

State shared revenues 118,063 118,063

Accounts 23,816 580 24,396

Interest 396 396

Library 32,143 32,143

Due from other funds 1,494 11,282 25,228 4,963 42,967

Prepaid expenditures 122,551 319 478 123,348

Total assets 1,158,586$       842,741$          552,472$           508,957$          3,062,756$       

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 322,920$          9,783$              24,525$             26,447$            383,675$          

Due to other funds 45,130 1,494 46,624

Due to others 1,188 1,731 2,919

Total liabilities 369,238 9,783 26,256 27,941 433,218

FUND BALANCE
Nonspendable - prepaid items 122,551 319 478 123,348

Nonspendable - library receivable 32,143 32,143

Restricted - fire 530,768 530,768

Restricted - law enforcement 526,216 251,198 777,414

Restricted - community development 27,932 27,932

Restricted - debt service 1,581 1,581

Committed - building department 167,560 167,560

Assigned for future budget deficit 301,871 32,267 334,138

Unassigned 634,654 634,654

Total fund balances 789,348 832,958 526,216 481,016 2,629,538

Total liabilities and fund balances 1,158,586$       842,741$          552,472$           508,957$          3,062,756$       

 
The notes of the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES TO NET POSITION  
OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 

JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 
 

Total fund balance per balance sheet 2,629,538$     

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement

 of Net Position are different because:

  Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial 

    resources and therefore, are not reported in the funds.  

      Historical cost 12,261,707$   

Accumulated depreciation (4,627,119)

Capital assets net of accumulated depreciation 7,634,588

  Pension related activities are not a consumption of current resources

    and therefore are reported as deferred outflows of resources in

    the Statement of Net Position.

Investments deficient (in excess) of projections 52,575             

Differences in actuarial assumptions 50,444

Differences in actuarial experience to actual (43,339)

Contributions subsequent to measurement date 31,266             

Deferred outflows of resources related to pension activities 90,946

  Pension liabilities, net of pension plan fiduciary net position,

    are not due and payable in the current period and are not

    reported in the fund financial statements.

Net pension liability (212,726)

  Some liabilities are not due and payable in the current period

    and therefore are not reported in the funds.  These include:

Long-term debt (2,700,310)

Compensated absenses (226,267)

Total (2,926,577)

  Net position of governmental activities 7,215,769$     

 
 

 
 
 
The notes of the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 

Law

General Fire Enforcement Nonmajor

Fund Fund Fund Funds Total

REVENUES

Taxes 263,055$              632,987$              1,480,666$           264,677$              2,641,385$           

Grant                                284,357                                                                               284,357

State shared revenues and tax reimbursement 690,176 11,282 25,228 4,888 731,574

Licenses and permits 3,386 168,681 172,067

Contributions 1,200 1,500 2,700

Rental income 12,760 8,400 254,086 275,246

Franchise fees 97,249 97,249

Charges for services 280,211 20,631 29,798 2,700 333,340

Fines and forfeitures 17,730 112,351 130,081

Interest 2,377 2,377

Other income 41,240 1,282 4,652 1,274 48,448

Total revenues 1,387,068 960,139 1,562,960 808,657 4,718,824

EXPENDITURES

Current:

General government 959,757 109,527 1,069,284

Fire rescue 865,206 865,206

Police protection 1,459,917 160,732 1,620,649

Community center 107,120 107,120

Roads 121,606 121,606

Community development 2,500 2,500

Public works 38,072 16,791 54,863

Capital outlay:

General government 360,728 360,728                 

Recreation 336,436 336,436

Police protection 111,953 111,953

Fire protection 72,737 72,737

Debt service:                                

Principal                                445,297                 445,297                 

Interest/fees                                73,953                   73,953                   

Total expenditures 1,926,219 937,943 1,571,870 806,300 5,242,332

  Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures (539,151) 22,196 (8,910) 2,357 (523,508)
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NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS - continued 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 

 

 
Law

General Fire Enforcement Nonmajor

Fund Fund Fund Funds Total

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 275,000 35,000 310,000

Transfers (out) (275,000) (35,000) (310,000)

Total other financing sources (uses) (275,000) 275,000 35,000 (35,000)                                

Net changes in fund balances (814,151) 297,196 26,090 (32,643) (523,508)

FUND BALANCE, JULY 1, 2016 1,603,499 535,762 500,126 513,659 3,153,046

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2017 789,348$              832,958$              526,216$              481,016$              2,629,538$           

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The notes of the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

RECONCILIATION OF STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES 
IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 
 

Net change in fund balances - governmental funds (523,508)$      

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities 
  are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlay as expenditures. 

  However, in the Statement of Activities the cost of those

  assets are allocated over their useful lives as depreciation

  expense.  The amount by which capital outlay exceeded

  depreciation and losses on disposal is as follows:

Capital outlay 881,854$        

Depreciation expense (375,316)         

Donated assets 72,235

  Total 578,773

Some pension contributions in the Statement of Activities do not

  require the use of current financial resources, and therefore, are

  not reported as expenditures in the Governmental Funds.

Pension expense (47,668)

Repayment of bond and contracts payable is an expenditure

  in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term

  liabilities in the Statement of Net Position.

Repayment of:

Bonds/contracts payable 445,297

Accrued absenses for vacation for the employees is

  recorded on the Statement of Net Assets (48,367)

Change in net position of governmental activities 404,527$        

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes of the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 



 

 24 

NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 
PROPRIETARY FUND 

JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 
 

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 890,657$              

Investments 22,245                   

Sewer billings receivable 389,017

Due from other funds 3,631

Other receivables 22,870

Total current assets 1,328,420$           

RESTRICTED ASSETS
Cash 900,670

Investments 16,580

Special assessments receivable - capital and debt 1,144,401

Total restricted assets 2,061,651

PLANT, PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Non-depreciated 226,918

Depreciated, net 8,676,563

Net plant, property, and equipment 8,903,481

Total assets 12,293,552

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 83,248

Accrued compensated absences 36,117

Contracts payable - current portion 113,596

Total current liabilities 232,961

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Contracts payable - less current portion 1,111,094

 
Total liabilities 1,344,055

NET POSITION
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 7,678,791

Restricted for capital and debt 2,061,651

Unrestricted 1,209,055

Total net position 10,949,497$         

Sewage Disposal System Fund

 
 
 
 

 
 
The notes of the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 
PROPRIETARY FUND 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 
 

OPERATING REVENUES

User charges 1,356,181$        

OPERATING EXPENSES

Salaries and wages 296,625$           

Employee benefits/payroll taxes 146,860

Depreciation 349,738

Other operating expenses 481,499

Total operating expenses 1,274,722

Operating income 81,459

NON-OPERATING REVENUES AND (EXPENSES)

Interest income - cash and cash equivalents 2,631

Interest income - special assessments 72,569

Other revenues 5,589

Interest expense (62,529)

Bond fees (1,562)

Total non-operating revenues and (expenses) 16,698

Net income before capital contributions 98,157

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

Connection fees 28,400

Change in net position 126,557

NET POSITION, JULY 1, 2016 10,822,940

NET POSITION, JUNE 30, 2017 10,949,497$     

Sewage Disposal System Fund

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
The notes of the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
SEWAGE DISPOSAL SYSTEM FUND 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 

Cash receipts from customers 1,313,104$    

Cash payments to employees (282,184)

Cash payments to suppliers of goods and services (564,347)

Net cash provided by operating activities 466,573

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL

  AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Connection fees received 28,400$          

Special assessments and interest received 280,890

Other revenue (expense) 5,589

Acquisition of capital assets (196,711)

Repayment of principal on bonds/contracts (568,794)

Investment activity 1,174,534

Net cash (used in) capital and

  related financing activities 723,908

Interest on cash and cash equivalents 2,631

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,193,112

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT, JULY 1, 2016 598,215

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT, JUNE 30, 2017 1,791,327$    

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH 

  PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income 81,459$          

    Depreciation 349,738$        

  Change in assets and liabilities:

    (Increase) decrease in receivables (22,731)

    (Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses 252

    (Increase) decrease in other receivables (23,290)

    Increase (decrease) in accounts payable/accrued compensated absences 81,145

Total adjustments 385,114

Net cash provided by operating activities 466,573$        

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net
  cash (used in) operating activities:

 
 
 
 
The notes of the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
ALL AGENCY FUNDS 

JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 
 

Current Tax Trust and

Collection Agency Payroll

Fund Fund Fund Totals

ASSETS

Cash $                      60,984$          7,143$            68,127$          

Due from other funds 26                                                   26

Due from others 7,944 857 8,801

Total assets 26$                  68,928$          8,000$            76,954$          

 

LIABILITIES

Bank overdraft 26$                  $                      $                      26$                  

Due to others                          68,928 8,000 76,928

Total liabilities 26$                  68,928$          8,000$            76,954$          

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes of the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

 NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The accounting and reporting policies of the Township relating to the funds and account groups included in the 
accompanying combined financial statements conform to generally accepted accounting principles applicable to state 
and local governments.  The more significant accounting policies of the Township are described below. 
 

A.  BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

In accordance with GASB standards, the basic financial statements include both government-wide and fund financial 
statements. 
 

The government-wide financial statements (Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities) report on the 
Township as a whole, excluding fiduciary activities.  Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes 
and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant 
extent on fees and charges for support.  All activities, both governmental and business-type, are reported in the 
government-wide financial statements using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of 
accounting, which includes long-term assets and receivables as well as long-term debt and obligations.  The 
government-wide financial statements focus more on the sustainability of the Township as an entity and the change in 
aggregate financial position resulting from the activities of the fiscal period. 
 

Generally, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from the government-wide financial statements.  Net 
interfund activity and balances between governmental activities and business-type activities are shown in the 
government-wide financial statements.   
 

The government-wide Statement of Net Position reports all financial and capital resources of the Township (excluding 
fiduciary funds).  It is displayed in a format of assets less liabilities equals net position, with the assets and liabilities 
shown in order of their relative liquidity.  Net position is required to be displayed in three components:  1) invested in 
capital assets, net of related debt, 2) restricted, and 3) unrestricted.  Invested in capital assets, net of related debt is 
capital assets net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes or 
other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets.  Restricted net 
positions are those with constraints placed on their use by either:  1) externally imposed by creditors (such as through 
debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations or other governments, or 2) imposed by law through 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.  All net positions not otherwise classified as restricted, are shown as 
unrestricted.  Generally the Township would first apply restricted resources when an expense is incurred for purposes 
for which both restricted and unrestricted net positions are available. 
 

The Government-Wide Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which both direct and indirect expenses of 
the various functions and programs of the Township are offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that 
are clearly identifiable with a specific function or identifiable activity.  Indirect expenses for administrative overhead 
are allocated among the functions and activities using a full cost allocation approach and are presented separately to 
enhance comparability of direct expenses between governments that allocate direct expenses and those that do not.  
Interest on general long-term debt is not allocated to the various functions.  Program revenues include: 1) charges to 
customers or users who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges provided by a particular 
function or program and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital 
requirements of a particular function or program.  Taxes, unrestricted investment income and other revenues not 
identifiable with particular functions or programs are included as general revenues.  The general revenues support the 
net costs of the functions and programs not covered by program revenues. 
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NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 
 
Also, part of the basic financial statements are fund financial statements for governmental funds and proprietary 
funds.  The focus of the fund financial statements is on major funds, as defined by GASB Statement No. 34.  Although 
this reporting model sets forth minimum criteria for determination of major funds (a percentage of assets, liabilities, 
revenues, or expenditures/expenses of fund category and of the governmental and enterprise funds combined), it also 
gives governments the option of displaying other funds as major funds.  Other non-major funds are combined in a 
single column on the fund financial statements. 
 
The Township reports the following major governmental funds: 
 

The General Fund is the Township’s primary operating fund.  It accounts for all financial resources of the 
general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 

The Law Enforcement Fund accounts for all the activity associated with providing police protection services.  
This fund is primarily supported through the collection of property taxes. 
 

The Fire Fund accounts for all the activity associated with providing fire and medical rescue services.  This fund 
is primarily supported through the collection of property taxes. 
 

The Township reports the following major enterprise fund: 
 

The Sewage Disposal System Fund accounts for all the activity associated with the operations and maintenance 
of a sewage treatment system. 
 

B.  MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 
 
The governmental fund financial statements are prepared on a current financial resources measurement focus and 
modified accrual basis of accounting.  To conform to the modified accrual basis of accounting, certain modifications 
must be made to the accrual method.  These modifications are outlined below: 
 

A. Revenue is recorded when it becomes both measurable and available (received within 60 days after year-end).  
Revenue considered susceptible to accrual includes:  property taxes, sales and use taxes, transient occupancy 
taxes, licenses, fees and permits, intergovernmental revenues, charges for services, fines, forfeits and 
penalties, and interest. 

 

B. Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred.  Principal and interest on general long-
term debt are recorded as fund liabilities when due or when amounts have been accumulated in the debt 
service fund for payments to be made early in the following year. 

 

C. Disbursements for the purchase of capital assets providing future benefits are considered expenditures.  Bond 
proceeds are reported as another financing source.  The former being a decrease in fund balances and the 
later being an increase in fund balances.  
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NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 
 
With this measurement focus, operating statements present increases and decreases in net current assets and 
unreserved fund balance as a measure of available resources. 
 
This is the traditional basis of accounting for governmental funds and also is the manner in which these funds are 
normally budgeted.  This presentation is deemed most appropriate to:  1) demonstrate legal and covenant compliance, 
2) demonstrate the sources and uses of liquid resources, and 3) demonstrate how the Township’s actual revenues and 
expenditures conform to the annual budget.  Since the governmental funds financial statements are presented on a 
different basis than the governmental activities column of the government-wide financial statements, reconciliation is 
provided immediately following each fund statement.  These reconciliations briefly explain the adjustments necessary 
to transform the fund financial statements into the governmental activities column of the government-wide financial 
statements.   
 
The proprietary funds financial statements are prepared on the same basis (economic resources measurement focus 
and accrual basis of accounting) as the government-wide financial statements.  Therefore, most lines for the total 
proprietary funds on the proprietary funds financial statements will directly reconcile to the business-type activities 
column on the government-wide financial statements.  Because the proprietary funds are combined into a single 
business-type activities column on the government-wide financial statements, certain interfund activities between 
these funds are eliminated in the consolidation for the government-wide financial statements, but are included in the 
fund columns in the proprietary funds financial statements.   
 
Proprietary funds account for operations where the intent of the Township is that the costs of providing goods or 
services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user charges.  Under 
GASB Statement No. 34, proprietary funds are also required for any activity whose principal revenue sources meet any 
of the following criteria:  1) any activity that has issued debt backed solely by the fees and charges of the activity, 2) if 
the cost of providing services for any activity, including capital costs such as depreciation or debt service, must legally 
be recovered through fees and charges of the activity, or 3) it is the policy of the Township to establish activity fees or 
charges to recover the cost of providing services, including capital costs. 
 
On the proprietary funds financial statements, operating revenues are those that flow directly from the operations of 
the activity, i.e. charges to customers or users who purchase or use the goods or services of that activity.  Operating 
expenses are those that are incurred to provide those goods or services.  Non-operating revenues and expenses are 
items such as investment income and interest expense that are not a result of the direct operations of the activity. 
 
Fiduciary funds account for assets held by the Township in a trustee or agency capacity on behalf of others and, 
therefore, are not available to support Township programs.  Fiduciary funds are not included in the government-wide 
financial statements as they are not an asset of the Township available to support Township programs.  The Township 
currently maintains three agency funds.  One accounts for the collection and disbursement of property taxes, another 
is a clearing account for payroll transactions and the final one accounts for monies held in escrow for certain 
development projects. 
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NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 
 
C.  CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Under GASB Statement No. 34, all capital assets, whether owned by governmental activities or business-type activities 
are recorded and depreciated in the government-wide financial statements.  No long-term capital assets or 
depreciation are shown in the governmental fund financial statements. 
 
Capital assets, including public domain infrastructure (e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks and other assets that are 
immovable and of value only to the Township) are defined as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 
and an estimated useful life greater than one year.  Capital assets are recorded at cost or estimated historical cost if 
purchased or constructed.  Donated capital assets are recorded at the estimated fair market value at the date of 
donation.  Real property is considered a capital asset regardless of initial cost. 
 
The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend assets lives 
are not capitalized.  Major improvements are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related 
capital assets.  
 
Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 
 
  Buildings, structures and improvements   5 to 50 years 
  Utility plant   5 to 50 years 
  Machinery and equipment   2 to 40 years 
  Infrastructure 25 to 75 years 
 
Capital assets transferred between funds are transferred at their net book value (cost less accumulated depreciation), 
as of the date of the transfer. 
 
D.  ACCRUED COMPENSATED ABSENCES 
 
The Township has recorded a liability for compensated absences.  The policies regarding compensated absences are 
outlined in the Township’s “Rules of Employment”. 
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NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 
 
E. BUDGETARY DATA 
 
The Board of Trustees follows the procedures as outlined in the Uniform Budgeting Manual for Local Units of 
Government in Michigan in the establishment of the various annual budgets. 
 
The supervisor prepares the annual budgets through information received by the clerk.  The proposed budget is then 
submitted for discussion and approved by the entire Township Board.  The budget is approved by activity rather than 
line item.  If and when it becomes necessary to amend certain amounts in the budget, a proposal outlining the desired 
changes is made to and approved by the Township Board at any of their regular meetings.  Budget appropriations 
made, but not expended by year end, will lapse with the fiscal year end. 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2017, expenditures exceeded appropriations in several departments in the General Fund. 
 
F.  PROPERTY TAXES 
 
Property tax revenues are recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied.  Property taxes are levied on 
December 1 each year.  These taxes become liens on the property at that date. These taxes are due on February 14, 
with the final collection date of February 28.  The delinquent real property taxes of Northfield Township are purchased 
by Washtenaw County.  The county sold tax notes, the proceeds of which will be used to pay the Township for these 
property taxes.  The 2016 adjusted taxable value of the Township totaled $330,827,368.  The Township levied the 
following millages during the current fiscal year ended June 30, 2017: 
 

General operating 0.7952

Fire 1.9134

Police 4.4757

Public safety building 0.8001

Total millage 7.9844

 
G.  OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
 
The transfers of cash between the various funds are budgeted but reported separate from revenues and expenditures 
as transfers in or (out) unless they represent temporary advances that are to be repaid, in which case they are carried 
as assets or liabilities of the advancing or borrowing fund.  
 
H.  INVESTMENTS 
 
Investments are stated at market value. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 
 

I.  CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
  
Cash and investments include amounts in demand deposits and time deposits, including both negotiable and non-
negotiable certificates of deposit. 
 

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, demand deposits and short-term investments with a maturity date of 
three months or less when acquired are considered to be cash equivalents. 
 

J.  USE OF ESTIMATES 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures.  Accordingly, 
actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 

K.  RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

The Township is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors 
and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disaster.  The Township maintains commercial insurance coverage 
covering each of those risks of loss.  Management believes such coverage is sufficient to preclude any significant 
uninsured losses to the Township.  Settled claims have not exceeded this commercial coverage in any of the past three 
fiscal years. 
 

L.  RECEIVABLES 
 

When necessary the Township utilizes an allowance for uncollectable accounts to value its receivables.  The Township 
considers all of its trade and special assessment receivables to be collectable. 
 

M.  EQUITY 
 

Governmental fund equity is classified as fund balance.  Fund balance is further classified as nonspendable, restricted, 
committed, assigned, or unassigned.  Nonspendable fund balance cannot be spent because of its form.  Restricted fund 
balance has limitations imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, by enabling legislation or constitutional 
provisions.  Committed fund balance is a limitation imposed by the Township Board through approval of resolutions.  
Assigned fund balances is a limitation imposed by a designee of the Township Board.  Unassigned fund balance in the 
General Fund is the net resources in excess of what can be properly classified in one of the above four categories.  
Negative unassigned fund balance in other governmental funds represents excess expenditures incurred over the 
amounts restricted, committed, or assigned to those purposes.  Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in the 
government-wide statements. 
 

When both restricted and unrestricted fund balances are available for use, it is the Township policy to use restricted 
fund balance first, then unrestricted fund balance.  Furthermore, committed fund balances are reduced first, followed 
by assigned amounts, and then unassigned amounts when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts 
in any of those unrestricted fund balance classifications can be used. 
 

For the government-wide financial statements, net position is reported as restricted when constraints placed on net 
positions are either: (1) Externally imposed by creditors (such as debt covenants), grantors, contributors, laws or 
regulations of other governments or (2) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued 
 
N.  DEFERRED OUTFLOWS AND DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 

 
Under GASB standards the Township will report two sections in the Statement of Net Position (Government Wide 
Statements) and in the Balance Sheet (Fund Statements) which are called Deferred Outflow (previously called assets). 

 
These separate financial statement elements which meet the definition of deferred outflow are no longer considered 
assets. 
 
Deferred outflow of resources represent a consumption of net position that applies to a future period.  The element 
will not be recognized as an expense and (or) expenditure until the time restriction is met. 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2017 the Township records deferred outflow of resources relating to pension differences 
in expected investment returns compared to actual, changes in experience, and changes in actuarial assumptions.  In 
addition, the Township records deferred outflow of resources for pension contributions made subsequent to Net 
Pension Liability measurement date of December 31, 2016. 
 
In addition to liabilities, the Statement of Net Position and governmental fund balance sheet will report a separate 
section for deferred inflow of resources.  Deferred inflow of resources represents an acquisition of net position or fund 
balance that applies to future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that 
time. 
 
Deferred outflow/(inflow) of resources related to pension activities as of June 30, 2017 are as follows: 
 

 Deferred 

Outflows 

 Deferred 

Inflows 

Differences in experience $                      (43,339)$        

Differences in actuarial assumptions 50,444                                     

Differences in investment expectations versus actual 52,575                                     

Contributions made subsequent to pension liability measurement date 31,266                                     

Totals 134,285$       (43,339)$        

  

O.  DEFINED PENSION BENEFIT PLAN 
 
For purposes of measuring the Net Pension Liability, deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Municipal Employees Retirement 
System (MERS) of Michigan and additions to/deductions from MERS’ fiduciary net position have been determined 
on the same basis as they are reported by MERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee 
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are 
reported at fair value.
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NOTE 2 - DESCRIPTION OF REPORTING ENTITY 
 

In accordance with the provisions of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 39, certain 
other governmental organizations are considered to be part of the reporting entity for financial statement purposes. 
 

The criteria established by GASB Statement No. 39 for various governmental organizations to be included in the 
reporting entity's financial statements include accountability, control, and significant financial relationships. 
 

The accompanying financial statements of Northfield Township as of June 30, 2017, include any and all boards, 
agencies, funds and account groups under the jurisdiction of the Northfield Township Board. 
 
 
NOTE 3 - LAND CONTRACT RECEIVABLE - NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP AREA LIBRARY 
 
On May 15, 1989, the Township entered into a land contract with the Northfield Township Library Board for the 
purchase of property commonly known as the "Dodge House".  This transaction, which represents monies expended 
from the Northfield Township general fund, was in the original amount of $112,500, and is to be amortized over thirty-
five (35) years, without interest.  Annual installments of $3,214 started on February 22, 1993. The total outstanding 
balance at June 30, 2017 was $32,143.   
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NOTE 4 - CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital asset activity for the governmental and business-type activities for the year ended June 30, 2017 was as 
follows: 

Balance Balance

7/1/2016 Additions Deletions 6/30/2017

Governmental activities:

Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land 420,268$    432,963$    $                   853,231$    

Construction in progress 336,436       336,436       

Total cost - assets not being depreciated 420,268 769,399 1,189,667

Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings   8,659,747 8,659,747

Equipment 2,227,603 184,690                      2,412,293

Total cost 10,887,350 184,690                            11,072,040

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Buildings   (2,440,496) (194,488) (2,634,984)

Equipment (1,811,307) (180,828)                      (1,992,135)

Total accumulated depreciation (4,251,803) (375,316)                      (4,627,119)

Capital assets being depreciated, net 6,635,547 (190,626) 6,444,921

Governmental activities capital assets, net 7,055,815$ 578,773$    $                   7,634,588   

Related long-term debt outstanding at June 30, 2017 (2,700,310)

Governmental activities capital assets, net of related long-term debt 4,934,278$ 

 
 
 
 

 



 

 38 

NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
NOTE 4 - CAPITAL ASSETS - continued 
 

Balance Balance
7/1/2016 Additions Deletions 6/30/2017

Business-type activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land 226,918$         $                        $                        226,918$         
Construction in progress 440,620           196,711           637,331           

Total capital assets
not being depreciated 667,538 196,711 864,249

Capital assets being depreciated:
Plant and equipment 14,911,991                           14,911,991

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Plant and equipment (6,523,021) (349,738) (6,872,759)

Capital assets being depreciated, net 8,388,970 (349,738) 8,039,232

Business-type activities 
capital assets, net 9,056,508$      (153,027)$        $                        8,903,481        

    Less:  related long-term debt outstanding as of June 30, 2017 (1,224,690)

Business-type activities capital assets net of related debt 7,678,791$      

Depreciation expense was distributed to the various activities as follows: 
 

Governmental activities:
  General government 11,693$          
  Fire protection and medical rescue 163,216
  Police protection 162,478
  Recreation 30,356
  Community center 7,573

Subtotal 375,316

Business-type activities:

  Sewer service 349,738

Total 725,054$        
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NOTE 5 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS 
 
The following is a summary of the Township’s governmental activity long-term debt: 

 
Bonds Payable 
 

1. General Obligation Unlimited Tax Refunding bonds were issued on July 30, 2012 for $2,415,000 to refund 
the 2001 bonds related to the financing of the public safety building.  Principal payments range from 
$215,000 to $265,000 due annually in April and maturing on April 2022.  Interest is charged at 2.35%, 
payable semi-annually.  The outstanding balance of the bonds at June 30, 2017 was $1,265,000. 
 

2. General Obligation Limited Tax Refunding bonds were issued on July 30, 2012 for $2,930,000 to refund the 
2002 and 2003 bonds related to the financing of the public safety building (84.43%) as well as the Seven 
Mile sewer project (15.57%).  Principal payments range from $223,000 to $300,000 due annually in April and 
maturing on April 2023.  Interest is charged at 2.35%, payable semi-annually.  The governmental fund 
outstanding balance of the bonds at June 30, 2017 was $1,435,310. 
 

 
The following is a schedule of changes in the long-term obligations of government fund activities: 
 

Bonds Payable

General Obligation Bond, Series 2012 $                        $                     $                       $                       250,000$         

Refunding of 7 Mile Extension 1,495,000        (230,000)         1,265,000       

General Obligation Bond, Series 2012                           

Refunding of 2002/2003 Public Safety                           

Building Bonds 1,650,607        (215,297)         1,435,310       236,404           

Total bonds payable 3,145,607                               (445,297)         2,700,310       486,404           

Compensated absences

General government 177,900           48,367           226,267           37,646             

Governmental activites

long term obligations 3,323,507$     48,367$        (445,297)$       2,926,577$     524,050$         

Balance

7/1/2016 Additions Deletions

Balance

6/30/2017

Amount Due

Within

One Year
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NOTE 5 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS - continued 
 

The following is a schedule of principal and interest payments to service the governmental long-term obligations of 
the Township: 

 

Principal Interest

Year Ending:

2018 486,404$          63,458$            

2019 481,404 52,027

2020 477,183 40,714

2021 518,290 29,500

2022 509,068 17,320

2023 227,961 5,357

 

Totals 2,700,310$      208,376$          

Bonds Payable
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NOTE 5 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS - continued 
 

The following is a summary of bonds payable debt for the business-type activities: 
 

1. Loan payable to Michigan Municipal Bond Authority to finance the refunding bonds for the 1992 Junior 
Lien bonds originally issued in 1992.  A net present value savings of $84,344 was created by issuing these 
refunding bonds due to a decrease in interest rates.  Principal payable in annual installments ranging from 
$30,000 to $45,000 starting April 2006, and maturing on April 2022.  Interest is paid semi-annually charged 
at 2.00% to 5.00%.  Outstanding balance of the bonds was $225,000 at June 30, 2017. 

 

2. Loan payable to Washtenaw County to finance the refunding bonds for the various expansion project 
bonds.  A net present value savings of $243,781 was created by issuing these refunding bonds due to a 
decrease in interest rates.  Principal payable in annual installments ranging from $400,000 to $555,000 
starting May 2008, and maturing on May 2017.  Interest is paid semi-annually charged at 4.25%.  This bond 
was repaid in full during the year ended June 30, 2017. 

 

3. General Obligation Limited Tax Refunding bonds were issued on July 30, 2012 for $2,930,000 to refund the 
2002 and 2003 bonds related to the financing of the Public Safety Building (84.43%) as well as the Seven 
Mile Sewer Project (15.57%).  Principal payments range from $223,000 to $300,000 due annually in April 
and maturing on April 2023.  Interest is charged at 2.35%, payable semi-annually.  The business-type fund 
outstanding balance portion of the bonds at June 30, 2017 was $264,690. 

 

4. General Obligation Limited Tax Special Assessment Bonds were issued on February 10, 2017 for $760,000 
to finance the construction of the Whitmore Lake Sewer Special Assessment District.  Principal payments 
of $25,000 and $55,000 are due annually beginning April 2017 and maturing in April 2035.  Interest is paid 
semi-annually at 2.00% to 4.00%.  The outstanding balance portion of the bonds at June 30, 2017 was 
$735,000. 

 

The following is a schedule of changes in the long-term debt of business-type activities: 
Amount Due

Balance Balance Within
Bonds Payable 7/1/2016 Additions Deletions 6/30/2017 One Year

1. General Obligation Bond, Series 2004B
    (1992 Junion Lien refunding) 265,000$         $                   (40,000)$      225,000$        45,000$         

2. General Obligation Bond, Series 2007
    (1997 Expansion, 8 Mile Pump and N.                                                

     Territorial) 400,000 (400,000)                         

3. General Obligation Bond, Series 2012
     (7 Mile Extension refunding) 304,393 (39,703) 264,690 43,596

4. General Obligation Bond, Series 2016
    (Whitmore Lake SAD) 760,000                       (25,000) 735,000 25,000

Total bonds payable 1,729,393                       (504,703) 1,224,690 113,596

Compensated absences
Business-type 21,676             14,441                                36,117            7,830             

Total business-type
  activities long-term debt 1,751,069$     14,441$       (504,703)$    1,260,807$    121,426$      
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NOTE 5 - LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS - continued 
 

The following is a schedule of principal and interest payments to service the business-type long term obligations of 
the Township: 

Principal Interest Total

2018 113,596$        39,133$          152,729$        

2019 113,596 35,640 149,236

2020 112,818 32,090 144,908

2021 116,710 28,446 145,156

2022 120,931 24,711 145,642

2023 - 2027 227,039 90,508 317,547

2028 - 2032 255,000 55,689 310,689

2033 - 2035 165,000 11,959 176,959

        Totals 1,224,690$    318,176$        1,542,866$    

Bonds Payable

 
 

NOTE 6 - DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION PLAN 
 

The Township participates in a defined contribution plan for full-time employees and is a fully insured plan funded by 
both employer (2/3) and employee (1/3) contributions.  Under the plan the employee is allowed to contribute pre-tax 
dollars up to 10% of their annual compensation.  All participants are vested 100% immediately.  The Northfield 
Township Area Library participates with the Township in this plan and is included in all subsequent data regarding the 
plan. 
 

A participant includes all full-time employees as of the beginning of the anniversary date or June 1st of each year.  The 
annual contributions are based on the following formula: 
 

 Employer contributes   10% of wages 
    Employee contributes    5% of wages 
 

    Annual contribution 
      to pension plan        15% of wages 
    

The plan name is "Group Pension Plan" #GN 53402 through John Hancock Financial.  A summary of the plan's activity 
for the period July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017, is as follows: 

 

Current year contributions

Township portion 71,630$          

Employee portion 35,815

Total contributions 107,445$        
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NOTE 7 - DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN 
 
Plan Description 
 
The employer’s defined benefit pension plan provides certain retirement, disability and death benefits to plan 
members and beneficiaries. The employer participates in the Municipal Employees Retirement System (MERS) of 
Michigan. MERS is an agent multiple employer, statewide public employee pension plan established by the Michigan 
Legislature under Public Act 135 of 1945 and administered by a nine member Retirement Board. MERS issues a 
publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information. This 
report may be obtained accessing the MERS website at www.mersofmich.com. 
 
Benefits Provided 
 
The defined benefit plan is open to all full time union police officers.  The plan calls for benefits to be paid as 2.25% 
of the final average compensation for each year of service, with a maximum of 80%.  Final average compensation is 
calculated based on the employees final 3 years wages.  The plan has a vesting period of 6 years, with normal 
retirement at age 60. Early retirement is available at age 55 with 20 years of continuous service with normal benefits 
or at age 55 with 15 years of continuous service or age 50 with 25 years of continuous service with reduced benefits.   
 
Employees covered by benefit terms 
 
At the December 31, 2016 valuation date, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms: 
 

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 0

Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 3

Active employees 10

13
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NOTE 7 - DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN - continued 
 
Contributions 
 
The Township is required to contribute amounts at least equal to the actuarially determined rate, as established by 
the MERS Retirement Board.  The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the cost 
of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued 
liability.  
 
The Township contributes 10% of covered wages, with the enrolled employees contributing the remainder of the 
actuarial determined rate. The employee contribution for the year ended June 30, 2017 was 3.70% of eligible wages 
to fund the plan.  The Township contributed $59,011 to the plan during the reporting period. 
 
Net Pension Liability  
The employer's Net Pension Liability was measured as of December 31, 2016, and the total pension liability used to 
calculate the Net Pension Liability was determined by an annual actuarial valuation as of that date. 
 
Actuarial assumptions 
The total pension liability in the December 31, 2016 annual actuarial valuation was determined using the following 
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 

 
Inflation: 2.5%. 
Salary Increases: 3.75% 
Investment rate of return: 7.75%, net of investment expense, including inflation. 
 

Although no specific price inflation assumptions are needed for the valuation, the 3.75% long-term wage inflation 
assumption would be consistent with price inflation of 2.5%. 
 
Mortality rates used were based on the 2014 Healthy Annuitant Annuity Mortality table, Employee Mortality table, 
and Juvenile Mortality table with a 50% Male and 50% Female blend.   
 
The actuarial assumptions used in valuation were based on the results of the most recent actuarial experience study 
of 2009 to 2013. 
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NOTE 7 - DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN - continued 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a model method in which 
the best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of investment and 
administrative expenses and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to 
produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target 
asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic 
real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:  
 

Asset Class Target Allocation

Long-Term 

Expected Real 

Rate of Return

Global Equity 57.50% 5.02%

Global Fixed Income 20.00% 2.18%

Real Assets 12.50% 4.23%

Diversifying Strategies 10.00% 6.56%

 
 

Discount Rate 
 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability is 8.00% for 2016. The projection of cash flows used to 
determine the discount rate assumes that employer and employee contributions will be made at the rates agreed 
upon for employees and the actuarially determined rates for employers. Based on these assumptions, the pension 
plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to pay all projected future benefit payments of current 
active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was 
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
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NOTE 7 - DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN - continued 
 
Changes in Net Pension Liability 

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension

Liability Net Position Liability

(a) (b) (a)-(b)

Balance at 12/31/2015  $      1,800,358  $       1,457,229  $      343,129 

Changes for the year

Service cost 72,652                          72,652 

Interest on total pension liability 146,935                     146,935 

Changes in benefits 3,918                              3,918 

Difference between expected and actual experience (106,981)                 (106,981)

Changes in assumptions                           

Employer contributions 59,011                        (59,011)

Employee contributions 19,534                        (19,534)

Net investment income 171,765                    (171,765)

Benefit payments, including employee refunds                                                                        

Administrative expense (3,383)                              3,383 

Other changes                           

Net changes 116,524            246,927             (130,403)      

Balances as of 12/31/16 1,916,882$      1,704,156$       212,726$      

Increase (Decrease)

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to changes in the discount rate 
 
The following presents the Net Pension Liability of the employer, calculated using the discount rate of 8.00%, as well 
as what the employer’s Net Pension Liability would be using a discount rate that is 1% point lower (7.00%) or 1% 
higher (9.00%) than the current rate. 

1% Decrease

7.00%

Current Discount 

Rate

 8.00%

1% Increase

9.00%

Net Pension Liability at 12/31/16 212,726$       212,726$                 212,726$         

Changes in Net Pension Liability (NPL)

from change in discount rate 362,111         (293,576)          

Calculated NPL 574,837$       212,726$                 (80,850)$          

 
 

Note: The current discount rate shown for GASB 68 purposes is higher than the MERS assumed rate of return.  This 
is because for GASB purposes, the discount rate must be gross of administrative expenses, whereas for funding 
purposes, it is net of administrative expenses. 



 

 47 

NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
NOTE 7 - DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN - continued 
 
Pension Expense and Deferred Outflow/Inflow of Resources Related to Pension 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2017, the Township recognized pension expense of $111,350.  The Township reported 
deferred outflow and inflow of resources related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

Deferred 

Outflow of 

Resources

Deferred 

Inflow of 

Resources Totals

Differences in experience $                      (43,339)$      (43,339)$      

Differences in assumptions 50,444                              50,444          

Excess (Deficit) of investment returns 52,575                              52,575          

Total to be amortized as pension expense 103,019         (43,339)        59,680          

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 31,266            31,266          

Totals 134,285$       (43,339)$      90,946$       

 

 
Amounts reported as deferred outflow and inflow of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension 
expense as follows: 
 

Year Ended Expense

2018 23,580$          

2019 23,579            

2020 18,895            

2021 (9,423)             

2022 1,014               

2023-2024 2,035               

Total 59,680$          

 

 
The amounts reported as deferred outflow of resources resulting from contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction in the Net Pension Liability for the year ended June 30, 2017. 
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NOTE 8 - INTERFUND RECEIVABLE AND PAYABLE BALANCES AND TRANSFERS 
 
Interfund receivables and payables exist at June 30, 2017.  These represent short-term borrowings and amounts owed 
for reimbursements between other funds. 
 
The following is a summary of the outstanding borrowings between the various funds of the Township: 
 

Interfund Interfund

Receivable Payable

General Fund 1,494$         Downtown Development Authority 1,494$         

Law Enforcement Fund 25,228         General Fund 25,228         

Fire Fund 11,282 General Fund 11,282

Public Safety Fund 4,888 General Fund 4,888

Current Tax Fund 26 General Fund 26

Sewer Fund 3,631 General Fund 3,631

Building Fund 75 General Fund 75

Total interfund balances 46,624$       46,624$       

 
Interfund transfers for the year ended June 30, 2017 were as follows: 
 

Transfer In Transfer Out Purpose Amount

Law Enforcement Fund Federal Narcotics Fund Pay operating expenditures 35,000$          
Fire Fund General Fund Pay operating expenditures 25,000            
Fire Fund General Fund Fire truck replacement 250,000

310,000$        
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NOTE 9 - DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
Michigan Compiled Laws, Section 129.91, (Public Act 20 of 1943, as amended) authorizes the Township to make 
deposits and invest in the accounts of federally insured banks, credit union, and savings and loan associations; bonds, 
securities and other direct obligations of the United States, or any agency or instrumentality of the United States; 
United States government or Federal Agency obligation repurchase agreements; bankers acceptance of United States 
banks, commercial paper rated by two standard rating agencies within the two highest classifications, which mature 
not more than 270 days after the date of purchase; obligations of the State of Michigan or its political subdivisions 
which are rated investment grade; and mutual funds composed of investment vehicles which are legal for direct 
investment by local units of government in Michigan.  Financial institutions eligible for deposit of public funds must 
maintain an office in Michigan.  The Township’s deposits are in accordance with statutory authority. 
 
As of June 30, 2017 deposits and investments consist of the following: 
 

Total Cash Investments

Deposits

Checking accounts 4,588,907$      4,588,907$      $                        

Non-negotiable certificates of deposit 35,452 35,452

Total deposits 4,624,359 4,588,907 35,452

Investments
Negotiable certificates of deposit 38,825 38,825

Total investments 38,825                           38,825

Total deposits and investments 4,663,184$      4,588,907$      74,277$           

 
 

Cash and investments are presented in the financial statements in the following areas: 
 

Statement of Net Position:

Cash and investments 3,623,776$      

Restricted cash and investments 917,250

 4,541,026

Fiduciary Funds

Cash 68,127

Total cash and investments 4,609,153$      
 

 
The carrying amount of cash and investments is stated at $4,609,153 as of June 30, 2017.  The difference between the 
carrying amounts and the amounts mentioned above stem from cash on hand of $500, other outstanding items of 
$54,531.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
NOTE 9 - DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS - continued 
 

Custodial Credit Risk 
 

Deposits - This is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Township will not be able to recover its deposits.  The 
Township does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk.  The Township evaluates each financial institution 
with which it deposits funds and assesses the level of risk of each institution; only those institutions with an acceptable 
estimated risk level are used as depositories. 
 

Insured by FDIC 285,452$          

Uninsured and uncollateralized 4,338,907

Total 4,624,359$       
 

 

Investments - This is the risk that in the event of the failure of a counterparty to a transaction, the Township will not be 
able to recover the value of its investments.  The Township does not have a policy to cover custodial credit risk of 
investments.  The Township evaluates each financial institution with which it invests and assesses the level of risk of 
each institution.  Investments are made only with those institutions with an acceptable estimated risk level. 
 

As of June 30, 2017, none of the Township’s investments were exposed to custodial credit risk. 
 

FDIC insurance covers up to $250,000 for the combined amount of all time and savings accounts (including NOW 
accounts), and up to $250,000 for the combined amount of all demand deposit accounts. 
 
 

Concentration of Credit Risk 
 

Concentration of credit risk is the risk attributed to the magnitude of the Township's investment in a single issuer.  The 
Township's investment policy requires diversification with a primary focus on safety.  However, the policy does not 
place a fixed percentage limit for any one issuer.  
 

Investment Type/Issuer Percent of Portfolio

Non-negotiable CD

First National Bank 48%

Negotiable CD

Standard Federal Bank 52%

100%  
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
NOTE 9 - DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND INVESTMENTS - continued 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates and could possibly adversely affect the fair values of 
investments and cash deposits.  The Township's investment policy does not specifically limit investment maturities that 
would help manage its exposure to fair value losses from increasing interest rates. 
 
As of June 30, 2017 the Township had the following investment maturities: 
 

Investment Type Value Less than 1 1 - 5

Negotiable CD 38,825$         $                     38,825$         

Non-negotiable CD's 35,452 35,452

74,277$         35,452$         38,825$         

Investment Maturities (In Years)

 
 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.  The Township 
investment policy limits investments to those authorized by Public Act 20 of 1943.  Commercial paper must be rated 
within the two (2) highest classifications established by not less than two (2) standard ratings services.  Ratings are not 
required for U.S. Treasuries and money market accounts.  As of June 30, 2017, the Township's investments were not 
rated. 

 
 
 
NOTE 10 - STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 
Pursuant to the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) statement number 9, a statement of cash flows is 
presented.  The purpose of the statement of cash flows is to explain the change in cash and cash equivalents during the 
year.  Cash equivalents are defined as short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or 
less.  The direct method was utilized to represent cash flows from operations.   
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NOTE 11 - GRANT ACTIVITIES 
 
The Township has been a recipient of several grant funds for law enforcement, medical rescue, and recreation 
activities.  These funds are subject to federal and state grant audit requirements. 
 
 

NOTE 12 - ASSETS RESTRICTED FOR CAPITAL AND DEBT 
 
Restricted assets in the Sewage Disposal System Fund as of June 30, 2017 consisted of the following: 
 

Sewage

Disposal

 System Fund

Cash and investments 917,250$        

Special assessment receivables 1,144,401

Total 2,061,651$    

 
 



 

 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
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GENERAL FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
Variance

with Final

Budget
Favorable

Original Final Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES
Taxes $                     263,500$      263,055$      (445)$             

State revenue sources 652,000 690,176 38,176

Charges for services 344,365 377,460 33,095

Interest 1,000 2,377 1,377

Miscellaneous revenue 28,610 54,000 25,390

Total revenues 1,277,475 1,289,475 1,387,068 97,593

EXPENDITURES
Township board 43,265 38,825 4,440

Supervisor 14,877 14,802 75

Township manager 151,120 131,496 19,624

Elections 21,600 21,564 36

Clerk 80,636 82,431 (1,795)

Board of review 20,233 18,964 1,269

Treasurer 97,460 88,525 8,935

Assessor 108,318 102,396 5,922

Township hall and grounds 132,503 121,606 10,897

Professional fees 113,200 122,139 (8,939)

Community development 2,500 2,500

Zoning and planning departments 126,719 106,644 20,075

Street lights 35,520 38,072 (2,552)

Roads 200,950 458,127 (257,177)

Community Center 119,335 107,120 12,215

Solid waste management 2,000                        2,000             

Contingency - liens 5,000 3,041 1,959

Recreation board 10,000 4,059 5,941

Parks 16,684 16,500 184

Capital outlay 364,940 362,713 2,227

Rent - PSB 84,696 84,695 1

Total expenditures 1,251,405 1,751,556 1,926,219 (174,663)

Excess of revenues over
  (under) expenditures 26,070 (462,081) (539,151) (77,070)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers (out) (25,000) (275,000) (275,000)                        

Net change in fund balance 1,070 (737,081) (814,151) (77,070)

FUND BALANCE, JULY 1, 2016 1,603,499 1,603,499 1,603,499                        

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2017 1,604,569$   866,418$      789,348$      (77,070)$       

Budgets

 



 

 55 

NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

LAW ENFORCEMENT FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 

Variance

with Final

Budget

Favorable

Original Final Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES

Taxes  $   $  1,480,666$     $  

Local stabilization reimbursement 25,228            

Fines and court fees 17,730            

Traffic tickets and impound fees 4,240              

Liquor law license fees 3,386              

Contributions 1,500              

Charges for services 25,558            

Miscellaneous 4,652              

Total revenues 1,548,906 1,548,906 1,562,960 14,054            

EXPENDITURES 1,577,902 1,580,048 1,571,870 8,178              

Excess of revenues over

  (under) expenditures (28,996) (31,142) (8,910) 22,232

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Sale of assets 15,000 15,000 (15,000)

Transfer in 35,000 35,000 35,000                         

Total other financing sources (uses) 50,000 50,000 35,000 (15,000)

Net change in fund balance 21,004 18,858 26,090 7,232

FUND BALANCE, JULY 1, 2016 500,126 500,126 500,126                         

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2017 521,130$        518,984$        526,216$        7,232$            

Budgets
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FIRE FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 

 
Variance

with Final

Budget

Favorable

Original Final Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES

Taxes  $   $  632,987$               $  

Grant income 284,357                

Rental income 8,400                     

Local stabilization reimbursement 11,282                  

Charges for services 20,631

Other income 1,282

Contributions 1,200

Total revenues 648,212 965,012 960,139 (4,873)                   

EXPENDITURES

Salaries 300,794

Payroll taxes 22,797

Insurance - benefits 26,214

Grant expense 296,374

Pension 8,813

Medical testing 885

Uniforms 3,994

Controller 6,589

Audit fees 2,250

Vehicle 73,984

Training and development 6,649

Membership fees 1,655

Contractual services 1,762

Dispatch services 12,026

Telephone 6,773

Supplies 7,364

Insurance and bonds 49,876

Office overhead 33,311

PSB lease 84,695

Printing and postage 147

Utilities 5,185

Repairs and maintenance 35,138

Equipment 10,484

Computers 3,828

Tax chargebacks/drains 491

Miscellaneous 814

Personnel allocation (64,949)

 Total expenditures 724,955 1,284,856 937,943 346,913

Excess of revenues over

  (under) expenditures (76,743) (319,844) 22,196 342,040

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Sale of assets 52,000 52,000 (52,000)

Transfer in 25,000 275,000 275,000                                

Total other financing sources (uses) 77,000 327,000 275,000 (52,000)

Net change in fund balance 257 7,156 297,196 290,040                

FUND BALANCE, JULY 1, 2016 535,762 535,762 535,762                                

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2017 536,019$              542,918$              832,958$              290,040$              

Budgets
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SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
Schedule of Employer Contributions  

For the Plan For the Plan For the Plan

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended 

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014

Actuarial determined contributions 56,582$                       58,396$                      55,589$                       

Contributions in relation to the actuarial determined contribution 59,011                         58,396                         55,589                         

Contribution deficiency (excess) 2,429$                         $                                   $                                   

Covered employee payroll 565,824$                    583,960$                    555,890$                    

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 10.43% 10.00% 10.00%

 
This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years.  However, until a full 10-
year trend is compiled, only information for those years for which information is available will be presented. 
 

Amortization method Level percentage of payroll, open

Remaining amortization period Unfunded accrued liability - 23 years gain/ (loss) on

investments - 22 years, Plan amendments - 22 years

Asset valuation method 5 years smoothed

Inflation 2.50%

Salary increases 3.75%

Investment rate of return 7.75%

Retirement age Age 60. Early retirement with reduced benefits at 55 with 

15 years of service or 50 with 25 years of service or with 

normal benefits at age 55 with 20 years of service.

50% Female/50% Male 2014 Healthy Annuitant Annuity 

Mortality Mortality table, Employee Mortality table, and Juvenile

Mortality table

 
Previous Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 
 
A ten year smoothed asset valuation method was used for the time period of 2005 through 2014.  Employee 
contributions have varied each year between 2.16% and 3.96%.   
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SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 

For the Plan For the Plan For the Plan

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014

Total pension liability

Service cost 72,652$                    71,768$                    68,319$                    

Interest 146,935                    125,742                    110,821                    

Changes  in benefi t terms 3,918                        (14,904)                                                  

Di fferences  between expected and actual  experience (106,981)                   64,631                                                   

Changes  of assumptions 64,856                      

Benefi t payments , including refunds  of employee contributions                              

Net change in total pension liability 116,524                    312,093                    179,140                    

Total pension liability - beginning 1,800,358                 1,488,265                 1,309,125                 

Total pension liability - ending 1,916,882$               1,800,358$               1,488,265$               

Plan fiduciary net position

Contributions  - employer 59,011$                    58,396$                    55,589$                    

Contributions  - employee 19,534                      15,385                      54,529                      

Net investment income 171,765                    (22,425)                     81,669                      

Benefi t payments , including refunds  of employee contributions

Adminis trative expenses (3,383)                       (3,196)                       (3,030)                       

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 246,927                    48,160                      188,757                    

Plan fiduciary net position, beginning 1,457,229                 1,409,069                 1,220,312                 

Plan fiduciary net position, ending 1,704,156$               1,457,229$               1,409,069$               

Net pension liability

Total pension liability and plan fiduciary net position 212,726$                  343,129$                  79,196$                    

Plan fiduciary net pos i tion as  a  percentage of the total  pens ion l iabi l i ty 88.90% 80.94% 94.68%

Covered employee payrol l 565,824$                  583,956$                  555,890$                  

Net pens ion l iabi l i ty as  a  percentage of covered employee payrol l 37.60% 58.76% 14.25%

 
 
This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years.  However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, only 
information for those years for which information is available will be presented. 
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NOTE TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
 
NOTE - BUDGETARY INFORMATION 
 
Highlights of the budgetary process are disclosed in Note 1 of the Notes to Financial Statements. 
 
Budget Overruns 
 
In funds that were required by law to adopt budgets, during the year ended June 30, 2017 expenditures exceeded 
appropriations as follows: 
 

Final Budget

Actual 

Expenditures

Variance 

(Unfavorable)

General Fund

Clerk 80,636$                82,431$                (1,795)$                 

Professional fees 113,200                122,139                (8,939)                   

Street lights 35,520                   38,072                   (2,552)                   

Roads 200,950                458,127                (257,177)               

430,306$              700,769$              (270,463)$             

 
 
 



 

 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
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COMBINING BALANCE SHEET 
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

JUNE 30, 2017 
 

DEBT

SERVICE

Downtown Public

Building Federal Public Development Safety

Department Fire Truck Narcotics Narcotics Contribution Authority Building

Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Totals

ASSETS

Cash and investments 175,616$          $                         145,046$          113,309$          569$                  60,207$             7,096$               501,843$          

Taxes receivable 1,093                 1,093

Accounts receivable 580                     580

Prepaid expense 318                     160                     478

Due from other funds 75 4,888 4,963

Total assets 175,691$          580$                  145,364$          113,309$          569$                  60,207$             13,237$             508,957$          

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 4,364$               580$                  $                         157$                  70$                     9,780$               11,496$             26,447$             

Due to other funds                            1,494                 1,494                 

Total liabilities 4,364 580                            157 70                       11,274               11,496 27,941

FUND BALANCE 

Nonspendable - prepaid 318 160 478

Restricted

Law enforcement 145,046 106,152 251,198

Community development 499 27,433 27,932

Committed    

Building department 167,560 167,560

Debt service 1,581 1,581

Assigned for future budget deficit 3,767 7,000 21,500 32,267

Total fund balances 171,327                            145,364 113,152 499 48,933 1,741 481,016

Total liabilities and fund balance 175,691$          580$                  145,364$          113,309$          569$                  60,207$             13,237$             508,957$          

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS
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COMBINING BALANCE SHEET 
ALL AGENCY FUNDS 

JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 

Current Tax Trust and

Collection Agency Payroll

Fund Fund Fund Totals

ASSETS

Cash $                      60,984$          7,143$            68,127$          

Due from other funds 26                                                   26

Due from others 7,944 857 8,801

Total assets 26$                  68,928$          8,000$            76,954$          

LIABILITIES

Bank overdraft 26$                  $                      $                      26$                  

Due to others 68,928            8,000               76,928

Total liabilities 26$                  68,928$          8,000$            76,954$          
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COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
 

Downtown Public

Building Federal Public Development Building Safety

Department Fire Truck Narcotics Narcotics Contributions Authority Authority Building

Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Totals

REVENUES

Taxes  $  $                          $  $                         $                         $                         $                         264,677$          264,677$          

Local stabilization reimbursement 4,888                 4,888

Fines and forfeits 66,661 45,690 112,351

Charges for services 2,700 2,700

Licenses and permits 168,681 168,681

Rental income 254,086 254,086

Other income 130 580 475 89 1,274

Total revenues 171,511 580 66,661 45,690 475 254,086 269,654 808,657

EXPENDITURES

General government 99,529 327 9,671 109,527

Police protection 15,441 145,291 160,732

Public works 16,791 16,791

Debt service                            

Principal 215,297 230,000 445,297

Interest and fees 38,789 35,164 73,953

Total expenditures 99,529 15,441 145,291 327 16,791 254,086 274,835 806,300

Excess of revenues over

    (under) expenditures 71,982 580                    51,220 (99,601) 148 (16,791) (5,181) 2,357

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers (out) (35,000) (35,000)

Net changes in fund balances 71,982 580                    51,220 (134,601) 148 (16,791) (5,181) (32,643)

FUND BALANCE, (DEFICIT) JULY 1, 2016 99,345 (580) 94,144 247,753 351                    65,724 6,922 513,659

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2017 171,327$          $                         145,364$          113,152$          499$                  48,933$            $                         1,741$              481,016$          

DEBT SERVICE FUNDSSPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

 



 

 

INDIVIDUAL FUNDS 



 

 

GENERAL FUND 
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GENERAL FUND 
BALANCE SHEET 
JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
 

ASSETS

Cash and investments 858,482$        

Taxes receivable 1,641

Interest receivable 396

State shared revenue receivable 118,063

Accounts receivable - other 23,816

Due from other funds 1,494

Prepaid expenditures 122,551

Land contract receivable - Northfield Township Area Library 32,143

Total assets 1,158,586$    

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 322,920$        

Due to others 1,188

Due to other funds 45,130

Total liabilities 369,238$        

FUND BALANCE

Nonspendable - prepaid items 122,551

Nonspendable - Library receivable 32,143

Unassigned 634,654

Total fund balance 789,348

Total liabilities and fund balance 1,158,586$    
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GENERAL FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 

Variance
Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES
Taxes 263,500$           263,055$           (445)$                 

State revenue sources 652,000 690,176 38,176

Charges for services 344,365 377,460 33,095

Interest 1,000 2,377 1,377

Miscellaneous revenue 28,610 54,000 25,390

Total revenues 1,289,475 1,387,068 97,593

 
EXPENDITURES

Township board 43,265 38,825 4,440

Supervisor 14,877 14,802 75

Township manager 151,120 131,496 19,624

Elections 21,600 21,564 36

Clerk 80,636 82,431 (1,795)

Board of review 20,233 18,964 1,269

Treasurer 97,460 88,525 8,935

Assessor 108,318 102,396 5,922

Township hall and grounds 132,503 121,606 10,897

Professional fees 113,200 122,139 (8,939)

Community development 2,500 2,500

Zoning and planning departments 126,719 106,644 20,075

Street lights 35,520 38,072 (2,552)

Roads 200,950 458,127 (257,177)

Community Center 119,335 107,120 12,215

Solid waste mangement 2,000 2,000

Contingency - liens 5,000 3,041 1,959

Recreation board 10,000 4,059 5,941

Parks 16,684 16,500 184

Capital outlay 364,940 362,713 2,227

Rent - PSB 84,696 84,695 1

Total expenditures 1,751,556 1,926,219 (174,663)

Excess of revenues over
  (under) expenditures (462,081) (539,151) (77,070)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers (out) (275,000) (275,000)

Net change in fund balance (737,081) (814,151) (77,070)

FUND BALANCE, JULY 1, 2016 1,603,499 1,603,499                            

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2017 866,418$           789,348$           (77,070)$            
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GENERAL FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 

Variance

Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

TAXES 263,500$        263,055$      (445)$             

STATE REVENUE SOURCES

State shared revenues 685,603

Local community stabilization reimbursement 4,573

Total state revenue sources 652,000 690,176 38,176

CHARGES FOR SERVICES

Tax administration fees 150,104

Sewer administration 48,560

Cablevision franchise fees 97,249

Fiber footage fees 10,371

Planning and zoning fees 21,925

Mobile home park fees 2,874

Summer tax collection fees 13,665

Duplicating 82

Penalties and interest on taxes 7,868

Community Center 22,353

Licenses and fines 2,409

Total charges for services 344,365 377,460 33,095

INTEREST 1,000 2,377 1,377

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE

Rental income 12,760

Miscellaneous 23,937

Reimbursements 17,303

Total miscellaneous revenue 28,610 54,000 25,390

Total revenues 1,289,475$     1,387,068$   97,593$         
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GENERAL FUND 
STATEMENT OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 

Variance

Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

TOWNSHIP BOARD

Fees  $  10,000$           $  

Payroll taxes 765

Membership and dues 10,350

Printing and publishing 6,511

Transportation 10,000

Miscellaneous 1,199

Total township board 43,265 38,825 4,440

SUPERVISOR

Supervisor's salary 12,500

Payroll taxes 993

Miscellaneous 1,309

Total supervisor 14,877 14,802 75

TOWNSHIP MANAGER

Salaries 94,283

Payroll taxes 11,360

Insurance - benefits 2,069

Pension 5,061

Controller 52,709

Contracted services 7,076

Communication 306

Training and development 410

Personnel allocation (41,964)

Miscellaneous 186

Total township manager 151,120 131,496 19,624

ELECTIONS

Fees 10,550

Payroll taxes 59

Office supplies 7,289

Contractual services 675

Printing and postage 2,991

Total elections 21,600 21,564 36
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GENERAL FUND 
STATEMENT OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - continued 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 

Variance

Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

CLERK

Clerk's salary 12,500

Deputy clerk's salary 40,900

Payroll taxes 4,237

Insurance - benefits 7,357

Pension 4,060

Recording secretary 12,855

Miscellaneous 522

Total clerk 80,636 82,431 (1,795)

BOARD OF REVIEW

Fees 825

Recording secretary 1,280

Payroll taxes 63

Printing and publishing 682

Tax tribunal and drains 16,114

Total board of review 20,233 18,964 1,269

 

TREASURER

Treasurer's salary 12,500

Deputy/clerical salaries 56,431

Payroll taxes 5,220

Insurance - benefits 11,465

Pension 1,685

Legal fees 6,000

Tax roll preparation 2,355

Contracted services 11,025

Postage 4,469

Fuel and mileage 682

Miscellaneous 2,002

Personnel allocation (25,309)

Total treasurer 97,460 88,525 8,935
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GENERAL FUND 
STATEMENT OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - continued 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 

Variance

Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

ASSESSOR

Salaries 42,480

Payroll taxes 3,250

Insurance - benefits 18,932

Pension 4,218

Supplies 778

Fuel and mileage 154

Contracted services 63,705

Postage and printing 3,121

Miscellaneous 38

Personnel allocation (34,280)

Total assessor 108,318 102,396 5,922

TOWNSHIP HALL AND GROUNDS

Salaries 5,895

Payroll taxes 451

Insurance 26,255

PSB allocation 33,403

Janitor fees 12,825

Office supplies 10,251

Telephone 6,464

Postage 2,673

Utilities 198

Repairs and maintenance 20,065

Tax chargebacks 1,050

Miscellaneous 10

Equipment rental 5,756

Personnel allocation (3,690)

Total township hall and grounds 132,503 121,606 10,897

 

PROFESSIONAL FEES 113,200 122,139 (8,939)

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 2,500 2,500                          
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GENERAL FUND 
STATEMENT OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - continued 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 

Variance

Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

ZONING AND PLANNING DEPARTMENTS

Board of appeals fees 6,306

Salaries - recording secretary 9,620

Payroll taxes 1,309

Training and development 1,530

Department allocation 23,467

Planning commission fees 10,800

Printing and publications 2,753

Professional fees 35,051

Zoning administration 10,938

Code enforcement 4,100

Fuel and mileage 570

Miscellaneous 200

Total zoning and planning departments 126,719 106,644 20,075

STREET LIGHTS 35,520 38,072 (2,552)

ROADS 200,950 458,127 (257,177)

COMMUNITY CENTER

Salaries 50,373

Payroll taxes 4,015

Insurance - benefits 9,650

Pension 4,496

Programs 13,772

Janitorial service 2,142

Senior nutrition 2,415

Supplies 1,723

Dues 110

Telephone 2,492

Printing and publications 1,488

Insurance - general liability 1,552

Utilities 2,874

Repair and maintenance 7,961

Small equipment 1,051

Miscellaneous 1,006

Total community center 119,335 107,120 12,215
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NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

GENERAL FUND 
STATEMENT OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - continued 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 

Variance

Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT 2,000 2,000

CONTINGENCY - LIENS 5,000 3,041 1,959

RECREATION BOARD 10,000 4,059 5,941

PARKS 16,684 16,500 184

CAPITAL OUTLAY 364,940 362,713 2,227

RENT - PSB 84,696 84,695 1

 

Total expenditures 1,751,556$    1,926,219$    (174,663)$      

  
 



 

 

BUILDING DEPARTMENT FUND 
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BUILDING DEPARTMENT FUND 
BALANCE SHEET 
JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 

 

ASSETS

Cash 175,616$        

Due from other funds 75                    

Total assets 175,691$        

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 4,364$            

FUND BALANCE  171,327

Total liabilities and fund balance 175,691$        
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BUILDING DEPARTMENT FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 
 

Variance

Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES

Building permit fees  $  168,681$         $  

Contractor’s registration 2,700              

Other income 130

Total revenues 128,060 171,511 43,451

EXPENDITURES

Inspections 46,140

Other professional services 1,679

Telephone 440

Supplies 40

Personnel allocation 47,515

Controller 2,635

Insurance 1,080

Total expenditures 138,255 99,529 38,726

Net change in fund balance (10,195) 71,982 82,177

FUND BALANCE, JULY 1, 2016 99,345 99,345                         

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2017 89,150$          171,327$        82,177$          

 
 



 

 

FIRE FUND 
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FIRE FUND 
BALANCE SHEET 
JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
 

ASSETS

Cash 828,728$        

Taxes 2,412               

Prepaid expenses 319                  

Due from other funds 11,282            

Total assets 842,741$        

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 9,783$            

FUND BALANCE 

Restricted - Fire 832,958

Total liabilities and fund balance 842,741$        
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NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

FIRE FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
Variance

Favorable
Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES
Taxes  $  632,987$            $  

Grant income 284,357             

Rental income 8,400                 

Local stabilization reimbursement 11,282               

Charges for services 20,631               

Other income 1,282                 

Contributions 1,200

Total revenues 965,012 960,139 (4,873)

EXPENDITURES
Salaries 300,794

Payroll taxes 22,797

Insurance - benefits 26,214

Grant expense 296,374

Pension 8,813

Medical testing 885

Uniforms 3,994

Controller 6,589

Audit fees 2,250

Vehicle 73,984

Training and development 6,649

Membership fees 1,655

Contractual services 1,762

Dispatch services 12,026

Telephone 6,773

Supplies 7,364

Insurance and bonds 49,876

Office overhead 33,311

PSB lease 84,695

Printing and postage 147

Utilities 5,185

Repairs and maintenance 35,138

Equipment 10,484

Computers 3,828

Tax chargebacks/drains 491

Miscellaneous 814
Personnel allocation (64,949)

Total expenditures 1,284,856 937,943 346,913

 Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures (319,844) 22,196 342,040

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Sale of assets 52,000 (52,000)

Transfers in 275,000 275,000

Total other financing sources (uses) 327,000 275,000 (52,000)

Net change in fund balance 7,156 297,196 290,040

FUND BALANCE, JULY 1, 2016 535,762 535,762                            

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2017 542,918$           832,958$           290,040$           

 



 

 

FIRE TRUCK FUND 
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FIRE TRUCK FUND 

BALANCE SHEET 
JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
 

ASSETS

Due from others 580$                

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 580$                

 
 

 
 



 

 84 

NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

FIRE TRUCK FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 
 

REVENUES

Miscellaneous income 580$               

EXPENDITURES

Net change in fund balance 580

FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT), JULY 1, 2016 (580)                

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2017 $                      

 
 



 

 

LAW ENFORCEMENT FUND 
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LAW ENFORCEMENT FUND 
BALANCE SHEET 
JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
 

ASSETS

Cash 521,821$        

Taxes receivable 5,423               

Due from other funds 25,228

Total assets 552,472$        

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 24,525$          

Due to others 1,731

Total liabilities 26,256$          

FUND BALANCE 

Restricted - law enforcement 526,216

Total liabilities and fund balance 552,472$        
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NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

LAW ENFORCEMENT FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 

 
 

Variance

Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES

Taxes  $  1,480,666$       $  

Local stabilization reimbursement 25,228              

Fines and court fees 17,730

Traffic tickets and impound fees 4,240

Liquor law license fees 3,386

Contributions 1,500

Charges for services 25,558

Miscellaneous 4,652

Total revenues 1,548,906 1,562,960 14,054

EXPENDITURES 1,580,048 1,571,870 8,178

Excess of revenues over

  (under) expenditures (31,142) (8,910) 22,232

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Sale of assets 15,000                           (15,000)

Transfers in 35,000 35,000

Total other financing sources (uses) 50,000 35,000 (15,000)

  Net change in fund balance 18,858 26,090 7,232

FUND BALANCE, JULY 1, 2016 500,126 500,126                         

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2017 518,984$        526,216$         7,232$            
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LAW ENFORCEMENT FUND 
STATEMENT OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 

Variance

Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

EXPENDITURES 

Salaries  $  864,148$         $  

Payroll taxes 67,007

Insurance - benefits 146,902

Professional fees 44,250

Pension 67,587

Controller 6,589

Membership dues 636

Printing and postage 328

Transportation 20,029

Insurance and bonds 55,098

Repairs and maintenance 12,833

Telephone 16,153

Supplies 5,983

Equipment rental 2,608

Office overhead 33,311

PSB lease 84,695

Contractual services 13,646

Dispatch services 63,347

Personnel allocation 64,949

Tax chargebacks 1,097

Miscellaneous 674

Total expenditures 1,580,048$    1,571,870$    8,178$            

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

NARCOTICS FUND 
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NARCOTICS FUND 
BALANCE SHEET 
JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
 
 
 

ASSETS

Cash 145,046$        

Prepaid expenses 318

Total assets 145,364$        

FUND BALANCE

Restricted - public safety 145,364$        
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NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 

NARCOTICS FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 
 

Variance

Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES

Forfeitures 58,000$          66,661$          8,661$            

EXPENDITURES

Public safety projects 15,441

Total expenditures 56,000 15,441 40,559

Net change in fund balance 2,000 51,220 49,220

FUND BALANCE, JULY 1, 2016 94,144 94,144                         

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2017 96,144$          145,364$        49,220$          

Variance

Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES

Forfeitures 75,000$          74,709$          (291)$              

EXPENDITURES

Public safety projects 13,520

Capital outlay 6,591

Total expenditures 27,900 20,111 7,789

Net change in fund balance #REF! #REF! #REF!

FUND BALANCE, JULY 1, 2014 46,246 46,246                          

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2015 #REF! #REF! #REF!

 



 

  

FEDERAL NARCOTICS FUND
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FEDERAL NARCOTICS FUND 
BALANCE SHEET 
JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
 

ASSETS

Cash 113,309$        

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 157$                

FUND BALANCE 

Restricted - public safety            113,152 

Total liabilities and fund balance 113,309$        
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FEDERAL NARCOTICS FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 
 

Variance

Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES

Forfeitures 100,000$        45,690$          (54,310)$          

EXPENDITURES

Supplies - miscellaneous 10,044

Capital outlay 135,247

Total expenditures 234,000 145,291 88,709

Excess of revenues over (under)

expenditures (134,000) (99,601) 34,399

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers (out) (35,000) (35,000)

Net change in fund balance (169,000) (134,601) 34,399

FUND BALANCE, JULY 1, 2016 247,753 247,753                           

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2017 78,753$          113,152$        34,399$           

 



 

  

PUBLIC CONTRIBUTIONS FUND
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PUBLIC CONTRIBUTIONS FUND 
BALANCE SHEET 
JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
 

ASSETS

Cash 569$                

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 70$                  

FUND BALANCE 499                  

Total liabilities and fund balance  $               569 
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PUBLIC CONTRIBUTIONS FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 
 

Variance

Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES

Donations 500$               475$               25$                   

EXPENDITURES 500 327 173

Net change in fund balance                         148 148

FUND BALANCE, JULY 1, 2016 351 351                           

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2017 351$               499$               148$                 

 



 

  

DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY FUND
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DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY FUND 
BALANCE SHEET 
JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
 

ASSETS

Cash 60,207$          

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 9,780

Due to other funds 1,494

Total liabilities 11,274

FUND BALANCE 48,933            

Total liabilities and fund balance 60,207$          
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DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 
 

Variance

 Favorable

Budget Actual (Unfavorable)

REVENUES $                      $                      $                      

EXPENDITURES

Project fees 25,538 16,791 8,747

Net change in fund balance (25,538) (16,791) 8,747

FUND BALANCE, JULY 1, 2016 65,724 65,724                         

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2017 40,186$          48,933$          8,747$            

 
 
 
 



 

 

BUILDING AUTHORITY DEBT SERVICE FUND
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BUILDING AUTHORITY DEBT SERVICE FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 
 

REVENUES

Rental income 254,086$        

EXPENDITURES

  Debt service

  Principal 215,297

  Interest/fees 38,789

Total expenditures 254,086

Net change in fund balance

FUND BALANCE, JULY 1, 2016

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2017 $                      

 
 



 

 

PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING DEBT SERVICE FUND 
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PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING DEBT SERVICE FUND 
BALANCE SHEET 
JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
 

ASSETS

Cash 7,096$            

Taxes receivable 1,093               

Prepaid expenses 160                  

Due from other funds 4,888

Total assets 13,237$          

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 11,496$          

FUND BALANCE 

Restricted - debt 1,741

Total liabilities and fund balance 13,237$          
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PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING DEBT SERVICE FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 
 

REVENUES

Property taxes 264,677$        

Local stabilization reimbursement 4,888              

Other income 89

Total revenues 269,654

EXPENDITURES

Supplies 1,059

Cleaning services 9,942

Contracted services 6,728

Telephone 5,814

Insurance 7,462

Utilities 63,207

Repairs and maintenance 15,176

Tax chargebacks 213

Bond - principal 230,000

Bond - interest 35,164

Overhead allocation (99,930)

Total expenditures 274,835

Net change in fund balance (5,181)

FUND BALANCE, JULY 1, 2016 6,922

FUND BALANCE, JUNE 30, 2017 1,741$            

 
 

 
 



 

 

SEWAGE DISPOSAL SYSTEM FUND 
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SEWAGE DISPOSAL SYSTEM FUND 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

JUNE 30, 2017 
 

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash 890,657$        

Investments 22,245            

Sewer billings receivable 389,017          

Due from other funds 3,631               

Other receivable 22,870

Total current assets 1,328,420$          

RESTRICTED ASSETS

Cash and investments - capital and debt 917,250 

Special assessments receivable 1,144,401 

Total restricted assets 2,061,651            

PLANT, PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Land 226,918 

Plant 2,229,393 

Plant expansion 12,109,445 

Equipment 1,210,484 

15,776,240 

Less: accumulated depreciation (6,872,759)

Net plant, property, and equipment 8,903,481

Total assets 12,293,552$        

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 83,248$          

Accrued compensated absences 36,117

Bonds payable - current portion 113,596

Total current liabilities 232,961$             

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Bonds payable - less current portion 1,111,094

Total liabilities 1,344,055

NET POSITION 10,949,497

Total liabilities and net position 12,293,552$        
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SEWAGE DISPOSAL SYSTEM FUND 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 

OPERATING REVENUES

User charges 1,356,181$      

OPERATING EXPENSES

Salaries and wages 296,625$        

Payroll taxes 21,445

Insurance - benefits 100,216

Pension 25,199

Training and development 630

Testing 3,874

Operating supplies 49,132

Uniforms 2,413

Professional services 30,624

Controller 18,448

Supplies 1,563

Equipment 59,654

Contracted services 42,160

Administration fees 37,500

Telephone 4,946

Transportation 4,022

Printing and postage 3,585

Insurance and bonds 30,171

Utilities 118,764

Repairs and maintenance 72,766

Equipment rental 1,247

Depreciation 349,738

Total operating expenses 1,274,722

Operating income 81,459

NON-OPERATING REVENUES AND (EXPENSES)

Interest income - cash and equivalents 2,631

Interest - special assessments 72,569

Other  revenues 5,589

Interest expense (62,529)

Agent fees (1,562)

Total non-operating revenues and (expenses) 16,698

Net income before capital contributions 98,157

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

Connection fees 28,400

Change in net position 126,557

NET POSITION, JULY 1, 2016 10,822,940

NET POSITION, JUNE 30, 2017 10,949,497$    
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SEWAGE DISPOSAL SYSTEM FUND 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 
 

Cash receipts from customers 1,313,104$    

Cash payments to employees (282,184)

Cash payments to suppliers of goods and services (564,347)

Net cash provided by operating activities 466,573

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL

  AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Connection fees received 28,400$          

Special assessments and interest received 280,890

Other revenue (expense) 5,589

Acquisition of capital assets (196,711)

Repayment of principal on bonds/contracts (568,794)

Investment activity 1,174,534

Net cash (used in) capital and

  related financing activities 723,908

Interest on cash and cash equivalents 2,631

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,193,112

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT, JULY 1, 2016 598,215

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT, JUNE 30, 2017 1,791,327$    

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH 

  PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income 81,459$          

    Depreciation 349,738$        

  Change in assets and liabilities:

    (Increase) decrease in receivables (22,731)

    (Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses 252

    (Increase) decrease in other receivables (23,290)

    Increase in accounts payable/accrued compensated absences 81,145

Total adjustments 385,114

Net cash provided by operating activities 466,573$        

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash (used in) operating activities:

 
 



 

 

CURRENT TAX COLLECTION FUND 
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CURRENT TAX COLLECTION FUND 
BALANCE SHEET 
JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
 
 
 

ASSETS

Due from other funds  $                  26 

LIABILITIES

Bank overdraft 26$                  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

TRUST AND AGENCY FUND 
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TRUST AND AGENCY FUND 
BALANCE SHEET 
JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
 
 

ASSETS

Cash 60,984$          

Due from others 7,944

Total assets 68,928$          

LIABILITIES

Due to others  $          68,928 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

  
 

PAYROLL FUND 
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PAYROLL FUND 
BALANCE SHEET 
JUNE 30, 2017 

 
 
 

ASSETS

Cash 7,143$            

Due from others 857

Total assets  $            8,000 

LIABILITIES

Due to others 8,000$            
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NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP 
 REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR A QUALIFIED A QUALIFIED 
DEVELOPMENT PARTNER PARTNER FOR THE NORTH VILLAGE SITE 
AND PARK PROPERTY 
 IN DOWNTOWN WHITMORE LAKEWHITMORE LAKE, NORTHFIELD 
TOWNSHIP 

Invitation 
 
Northfield Township, Michigan (Township) issues this “REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR A QUALIFIED 
A QUALIFIED DEVELOPMENT PARTNERPARTNER FOR THE NORTH VILLAGE SITE AND PARK 
PROPERTY 
 IN DOWNTOWN WHITMORE LAKEWHITMORE LAKE, NORTHFIELD TOWNSHIP” packet for the 
Township-owned North Village redevelopment site and park property. The North Village site 
consists of approximately 23 acres. Based on the Township’s preferred development concept for 
the site the proposed allocation for future public uses is approximately 68% and private uses is 
approximately 32%, as follows: 
 

Proposed Public Uses Approximate Acreage Percent of Site 
Town Green and Beach 1.5 7% 

Central Lawn, Community Garden, Band Shell 8.25 36% 

Trail 2.75 12% 

Public Parking 3.25 14% 

Subtotal 15.75 68% 

Proposed Private Uses Approximate Acreage Percent of Site 

Mixed Use Buildings w/ Parking 2.0 9% 

Townhomes w/ Parking 1.25 5% 

Loft Buildings w/ Parking 4 17% 

Subtotal 7.25 32% 

Total 23 Acres 100% 

 
The site is located next to the Post Office in Northfield TownshipWhitmore Lake and within the 
boundaries of the Township’s Downtown Development Authority.  This project and corresponding 
development is intended to complement the surrounding neighborhoods, historic architecture, and 
traditional character of Downtown Northfield TownshipWhitmore LakeWhitmore Lake while also 
addressing public amenities, lake views and natural features, desirable connections to Downtown, 
parking, site access, and community vitality.  
 
The Township has planned the uses at North Village site to be complementary to Downtown 
Northfield TownshipWhitmore LakeWhitmore Lake and envisions mixed-use buildings with 
restaurants, retail, and second floor residential along Main Street. Those responding to this Request 
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for Proposals (“Respondents”) Applicants are encouraged to be creative in achieving the goals 
outlined later in this document.  Successful responsesdevelopment proposals will reflect an 
innovative approach to the development of the site and structure(s), will be submitted by a 
qualified Respondentdeveloper with qualified team members and will adequately implement the 
goals outlined in this application packet.   
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Attachments 
The following documents are available to provide planning guidance to respondents to this RFP: 

 North Village Master Plan, March 2017. 

 Downtown Strategic Action Plan and Design Framework, September 2017. 

 2012 Master Plan, Northfield Township, Michigan. Revised July 2014. 

 Downtown Whitmore Lake Strategic Action Plan and North Village Plan FAQ. 

 Northfield Township Zoning Ordinance. 
o https://library.municode.com/mi/northfield_township,_(washtenaw_co.)/codes/code_of_o

rdinances?nodeId=COOR_CH36ZO  

 

Introduction 
Northfield Township is seeking development proposals from qualified Respondentsdevelopers to 
purchase Township-owned property and commit to develop all or a portion of a 23-acre mixed-use 
North Village.  It is expected that the response to this application packet will serve as the initial 
project business plan and as a basis for the Township’s negotiations with one or more 
Respondentsdevelopment teams.  As such, it is in the best interests of all parties to be as clear as 
possible in all areas for which information has been requested.   
 
It is the Township’s objective to have a high-quality, cost-effective project delivered as soon as 
possible with as little risk as possible borne by the Township.  While this seems obvious, the Project 
Team is wholly committed to the success of this project and recognizes that there may be areas in 
which both parties are asked to participate.   
 
As owner of the land, the Township anticipates assisting in the provision of infrastructure, either 
through direct investment or by assisting the qualified developer in obtaining grants or loans from 
other public entities.  The Township also anticipates having to subsidize the project in the form of a 
land write-down. 
 
Selected developer(s)Respondents maywill be identified, in the sole discretion of the Township, at 
the culmination of a selection process that evaluates the: 

 Qualifications of the Respondentdevelopment team, including experience developing 
projects similar to that which they’ are proposing for the North Village. 

 Purchase price offered for the land.   
 Conceptual proposals for development of the site. 
Financial ability to implement the plan. 

 Any other factors that the Township deems relevant to the proposal process.set forth more 
fully below. 
 
Selected Respondentsdeveloper(s) will also be financially nimble and capable of obtainingarranging 
anythe necessary financing for purchase of the land from the Township (if feasible) in a timely 
manner.   

Formatted: Normal,  No bullets or

numbering

https://library.municode.com/mi/northfield_township,_(washtenaw_co.)/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_CH36ZO
https://library.municode.com/mi/northfield_township,_(washtenaw_co.)/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_CH36ZO
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Notices / Disclaimers  

While every reasonable effort has been made to ensure the accuracy of all information included in 
this packet describing requirements for the development proposal, or which will be provided to the 
applicant, the Township makes no representation, warranty or guarantee as to the completeness 
and/or accuracy of information provided to the extent prepared by any third party.  All such 
information provided by the Township is made available for the sole convenience of the 
Respondentsapplicants.  Each rRespondent shall rely upon its own inspection, investigation and 
analysis of the site and resources available, and/or deemed necessary or prudent in the evaluation 
of the site and corresponding proposal.  Additionally, to be considered for evaluation, rRespondents 
are required to comply with all of the requirementsnotices set forth provided below: 
 

 Potential Respondentssubmitters are required to submit an executed copy of the Letter of 
Interest provided in Attachment A to this document as initial evidence of seriousness.  

 This application packet is not a legally binding document, but merely an invitation to the 
development community to submit proposals based on the guidelines and terms provided 
in this packet.  The Township shall not be under any obligation to any party unless and until 
the Township and any selected Respondentdeveloper that may be selected enter into a 
legally binding Development Agreement, as has been approved and executed by the 
Township subsequent pursuant to all required approvals by the Township Board of Trustees. 

 In no event shall the Township be responsible for any cost, expenses, and/or fees or any 
other type of expenditureotherwise liable for any costs incurred by or on behalf of any 
rRespondent in connection with this application packet ,or a rRespondent’s investigation of 
the project or the negotiation of a Development Agreement, regardless whether such 
Development Agreement is executed.  The rRespondent developer shall be solely and 
wholly responsible for all such costs, expenses and fees. 

The Township reserves the right to reject any and/or all proposals for any or no reason, in its 
sole discretion, and the rights to decline to not engage any Respondentdeveloper, or to 
decline tonot sell the property, or both.  If the Township elects to proceed, it shall select the 
proposal that most closely meets the requirements and goals of the Township, as solely 
determined by the Township.  The selection and/or rejection of proposals shall be based on 
all factors, and accordingly, land purchase and costs alone shall not determine the 
Township’s interest in a proposal.   

 The decision to select a proposal does not obligate the Township to reach a Development 
Agreement with the selected Respondent, and the Township may reject any proposed 
Development Agreement for any reason, in its sole discretion. 

  The Township reserves the right to waive requirements, amend, modify or withdraw its 
selection of a proposalits interest in a public-private partnership at any time prior to the 
execution of a Development Agreement with a selected developerRespondent. 

 The Township will make every effort, but provides no guarantee, to provide notice of 
amendments or modifications to this application packet to all parties who submit the 
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required letter of interestRespondents.  In the event that such notice is not provided, or not 
received, no additional rights shall be granted to any rRespondent regarding the project. 

 The Township may request additional information from any and/or all of the interested 
Respondentsdevelopers and each RespondentDeveloper agrees to submit such requested 
items in a timely fashion.  The Township may seek additional information, and engage in 
negotiations, with one or more developersRespondents. 

 If a proposal or part of a proposal contains a misrepresentation of any information, whether 
by omission or directly, either willful or inadvertent, it may be cause for immediate 
elimination of the RespondentDeveloper from further consideration. 

 No fees or commission will be paid by the Township to parties acting as agents, brokers, 
consultants or contractors as part of this transaction. 

 All proposals and supplemental materials shall become the property of the Township after 
submission.  The Township shall retain the right to share concepts and terms submitted by 
one developer Respondent with other Respondentsdevelopers. 

 After submission, no proposals or supplemental materials will be returned. 

 No news or press releases regarding this project and the selection of a development 
proposal by the Township shall be released to the general public by the 
Respondentapplicant without the express written consent of the Township prior to the 
execution of a dDevelopment Aagreement by all parties.  Any violation of this guideline may 
be considered grounds for terminationresult in the Township rejecting any and all 
Development Agreements proposed by the Respondent, and canceling its selection of that 
Respondent. 

 The Township encourages the utilization of qualified local businesses and workers where 
reasonably feasible. 

 THE TOWNSHIP RESERVES THE RIGHT TO ACCEPT OR REJECT ANY OR ALL PROPOSALS, 
AND/OR ANY OR ALL PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENTS SUBSEQUENT TO SELECTION 
OF A RESPONDENT, IN PART OR WHOLE, AND TO WAIVE INFORMALITIES AND MINOR 
IRREGULARITIES IN PROPOSALS RECEIVED. 

 

Background 
 

Northfield Township is located in northeastern Washtenaw County, approximately 1.5 miles north 
of the City of Ann Arbor, 47 miles west of Detroit, and covers about 36 square miles in area. 
Northfield Township is bordered by Salem Township to the east, Ann Arbor Township to the south, 
Webster Township to the west, and Green Oak Township in Livingston County to the north.  
 
Washtenaw County is the sixth largest county in the State of Michigan. It is located in the west area 
of the Southeast Michigan Council of Governments (SEMCOG) region. SEMCOG is the regional 
planning agency that conducts planning studies and maintains a comprehensive database of 
information about the following seven counties: St. Clair, Macomb, Oakland, Livingston, 
Washtenaw, Wayne, and Monroe. 
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A number of existing and anticipated circumstances will affect Northfield Township’s future. The 
Township is home to downtown Whitmore Lake, a beautiful all seasons lake as well as other lakes, 
farms, woodlands and exceptional school districts. These factors, together with the attraction of the 
Ann Arbor area as a place to live and work is expected towill provide development opportunities 
and pressure onin Northfield Township for many years to come. 
 
The Township has responded to these opportunities in a variety of ways including a continued 
commitment to community planning goals and policies geared to preserving important natural 
features, while planning for growth in those areas most suitable for development. 
 

Project History  
In the summer of 2015, the Northfield Township Board of Trustees identified the need to create a 
comprehensive strategy for the revitalization of Downtown Whitmore Lake. To lead the effort, the 
Board authorized the creation of the Downtown Planning Group (DPG) on October 13, 2015 by a 
unanimous vote. Community volunteers representing many different interests and skills were 
recruited to serve on the DPG. They DPG spent several months exploring what makes for thriving 
downtowns and researching the unique opportunities presented by Northfield TownshipWhitmore 
Lake’s proximity to the water.  

 
In September of 2016, Northfield Township realized a dream of the community for many years; a 
public park and access to Whitmore Lake. The Northfield Township Board of Trustees purchased 23 
acres formerly referred to as the “Van Curler Property” - the vacant land next to the Whitmore Lake 
Post Office now known as North Village.  
 
Since the 2015 formation of the DPG and the 2016 acquisition of the North Village Site, the 
Township has been actively planning for the revitalization of Downtown NorthfieldWhitmore Lake 
TownshipWhitmore Lake: 
 

 October 2016 -  March 2017 (North Village Master Plan):  The North Village Plan proposes a 
central lawn enhanced by a new community garden, band shell, and non-motorized paths. 
Residential owner-occupied Townhomes and loft buildings are proposed along the edges of 
the site and next to US 23. On the west side of Main Street, a community green would be 
surrounded by a modest number of residential units atop small retail shops or eateries. 
Across Main Street, a lakefront public access area with a small marina, fishing pier, and sand 
beach play area is envisioned. 

 April 2017 – present (Downtown Strategic Action Plan and Design Framework) The Plan 
outlines a community vision, strategies, and a design framework for Downtown Whitmore 
LakeNorthfield Township.Whitmore Lake. 

 
Northfield Township hopes to bring together the community’s ideas and take advantage of the 
exciting opportunity for private partnership to revitalize the TownshipWhitmore Lake’s downtown 
starting with the redevelopment of the North Village site. 
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Development Site 
 

Site Overview 
The North Village site is approximately 23 acres in area and is bounded by Main Street and 
Whitmore Lake on its east, Barker Road to the South, and US 23 to the north and west. The site is 
prominently located in Downtown Northfield TownshipWhitmore LakeWhitmore Lake and is within 
walking distance to a number of restaurants, retail, recreation amenities, and residential areas. The 
site is also within close proximity to one of the County’s largest employers, the University of 
Michigan (11.5 miles). 
 
The zoning for the North Village site (Whitmore Lake North Village subdistrict) supports a unified 
vision for transforming the historic commercial core of the Northfield TownshipWhitmore 
LakeWhitmore Lake community focused on mixed-use development, increased yet efficient land 
use intensity, and improved public amenities oriented as much to the needs of the pedestrian as to 
those of the automobile. The zoning provides prescriptive physical development regulations, with 
the intent to develop a master-planned, walkable environment that creates new opportunities for 
investment while protecting quality attributes of the existing area.   
  

Design Objectives 
Throughout the North Village Master Plan process, several required and encouraged design 
objectives where identified by community members. The Township will accept proposals that meet 
all the provided design objectives or some (based on a phased approach).  All proposals should at 
minimum address which of the design objectives are fully and/or partially addressed in the 
proposed development plan. 
 

Required Design Objectives: 

 A small public space / town green (10,000 s. f. or less) fronting the lake and Main Street and 
framed by retail or mixed use buildings. 

 A two to three story mixed use building (foot print of 10,000 to 15, 000 s. f.) fronting on 
Main Street with site access to a public parking area on the southeast access point north of 
the Barker Road intersection. 

 

Strongly Recommended Design Objectives: 

 A public stage / amphitheater on the north end of the site facing US 23 and sited to 
complement views of the lake. 

 A central passive recreation area / field, corresponding to the existing glen with a pavilion 
structure and restroom. 

 The circulation system should be restricted to the perimeters of the central open space and 
provide site access to Barker Road on the south, Main Street in two locations on the east 
and Main Street on the north through the existing US 23 exit ramp. 

 The four established woodland clusters shall be substantially preserved in the locating of 
site features and amenities. 
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 A multimodal path on the western edge of the site tying into a circulation system that 
accesses the town green and central passive recreation area. 

 The multimodal path should connect to the planned path on the south side of Barker, the 
athletic fields, and potentially follow the rail right-of-way under US 23. 

• The passive recreation area should be usable for special event parking. 
 

Encouraged Design Objectives: 
• Housing, of up to four stories, is encouraged to fill gaps between woodlands on the west 

edge of the site adjacent to US 23 to help create a sound barrier. 
• If additional housing is incorporated it should be of a character compatible with nearby 

single family homes with front porches, pitched roofs, and limited to 2.5 stories in height. 
• A new sand beach stabilized by design with dock, fishing, and swimming area to 

accommodate public access to the waterfront. 
• A community garden and farmers market event spaces should be integrated into the site 

design. 

Site Vision 
Sample renderings and a site plan has been developed (Figures 1, 2 and 3) to provide a general vision for 
the type of development that is desired by the Township and community members. These images are 
for illustrative purposes only. The Township is open to alternative approaches.  

 

Figure 1: Central Lawn Rendering with Pavilion 
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Figure 2: Town Green Rendering with Lake View 
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Figure 3: Park with Mixed Use - Moderate Development Intensity 
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Phasing 
In an effort to encourage development of the property and expedite the construction, the Township has 
developed a Phasing Plan and Map with associated cost estimates (described in detail in the attached 

North Village Master Plan). The Township will accept proposals that address multiple phases, a 
select phase, part of a phase, or specific buildings. The Township will also accept proposals for 
alternate phasing plans that consider construction management or financing concerns.  For each 
phase of the proposed development, the developer must indicate which of the following features or 
alternative features are addressed: 

 Phase I.  Included in Phase I are all the public features to create North Village, including the 
recreation amenities, roadways and associated utilities for all three phases: 

o Sewer / Utilities 
o Roads / Circulation / Street Parking 
o Parking Areas with Landscaping 
o Central Lawn - Grading / Seeding / Planting 
o Central Lawn - Pathways 
o Central Lawn - Market Roadway 
o Central Lawn - Market Roadway Bollards 
o Central Lawn - Bandshell 
o Central Lawn - Pavilion / Restrooms 
o Green - Grading / Seeding / Planting 
o Green - Sidewalks 
o Green - Flagpole / Sculpture 
o Marina - Docks 
o Marina - Beach / Sand System 
o Mixed Use Buildings - Main Street 
o Mixed Use Buildings - On Green 
o Connecting Trail System 

 

 Phase II. The first of the residential units and associated parking are included in Phase II. 
o Rowhouses 
o Loft Buildings 
o Parking Areas with Landscaping 
o Parking Areas with Preserved Trees 

 Phase III. The remainder of the residential units and associated parking are included in 
Phase III. 

o Rowhouses 
o Loft Buildings 
o Parking Areas with Landscaping 
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Figure 4: Phasing Plan: Park with Mixed Use – Moderate Development Intensity 

Selection Process and Criteria 
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Submission Requirements 
Interested developers are encouraged to submit a proposal that compliesin accord with the 
requirements set forth in this application packet. Proposals should be submitted in a sealed 
envelope or other package that is clearly labeled “North Village Development Proposal.” Those 
respondents firms that fail to submit all required information may be eliminated from consideration 
at the Township’s sole discretion. Proposals shallould include, at a minimum:  
 

1. Cover Letter. Summarizing the proposal and signed by an authorized representative of the 
developer.  

2. Development Team. Developer should provide a list of organizations and individuals that 
make up the development team.  

a. Master Developer – Project Manager 
i. Resumes of project manager, senior executives and other key personnel. 

ii. Major projects currently under development. 
iii. Pending projects awaiting approval. 
iv. Description of any in-house areas of expertise. 
v. Minimum of three references from staff or elected officials in communities 

or public school districts with completed or ongoing projects. 
vi. How developer will organize / manage team to complete project. 

b. Proposed Design Firm(s) 
i. Resumes of key personnel. 

ii. Examples of work in writing and graphically. 
iii. Examples of work in context of established urban or suburban commercial 

districts (i.e. not greenfield development). 
c. Proposed Legal Team Members 

i. Prospective role in project. 
ii. Resumes of key personnel. 

iii. Examples of involvement in similar projects, including role in project. 
3. RespondentDeveloper’s Record of Similar Project Accomplishments. List and description of 

similar buildings and projects. For each project, provide: 
a. Age of project. 
b. Location. 
c. Developer’s role. 
d. Project cost. 
e. Contact information for reference. 
f. Project architect, engineer and current owner / lessee. 

4. Developer Respondent Proposed Concept Plan. Describe program proposed for 
development of North Village. The description should, at a minimum, include the following: 

a. Land use program: 
i. Proposed public uses. 

ii. Proposed ownership and maintenance agreement for public uses. 
iii. Proposed development mode (Planned Unit Development, Site 

Condominium, Land Split). 
iv. Proposed phasing plan. 
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b. Conceptual site plan: 
i. Site planning program, including under-ground infrastructure elements. 

ii. Landscaping program. 
iii. Right-of-way program. 
iv. Conceptual architectural elevations that demonstrate understanding of 

project design goals. 
v. Any proposed phasing plans or approaches. 

c. Cost of project: 
i. Purchase price for the property for consideration by the Township. 

ii. Copies of economic modeling such as financial projections, pro-forma 
income / expense schedule. Include detailed assumptions utilized in creating 
pro-forma. 

iii. List all public financial resources and/or programs that are assumed to be 
critical to successfully financing this project. 

iv. Estimated hard and soft costs. 
d. Proposed project investment: 

i. Estimated taxable value 
1. Include projected schedule of investment by year. 
2. Include guaranteed amount and schedule of taxable value, if any. 

ii. Estimated jobs created, if any. 
e. List of additional financial resources anticipated for use. 
f. Estimated schedule: 

i. Anticipated final site plan / engineering development. 
ii. Anticipated submission and approval of necessary permits. 

iii. Anticipated schedule of construction.  

g. Developer Respondent should list and describe the commitments it is willing to 
make to initiate the project, including:  

i. The amount, nature and status of short- and long-term financing 
contemplated.  

ii. Institutions expected to provide financing and statement by those 
institutions expressing such interest.  

iii. The anticipated source of equity funding anticipated for the project.  
iv. Detailed source and use plan, including contingency budget.  

5. Other Required Information.  
a.  Development proposals shall be accompanied by all reports, investigations, 

correspondence and/or written documentation prepared by the applicant or third 
parties utilized in the preparation and submission of proposal. This information may 
be used by the Township in any manner.  

b.  If the proposal does not comply with any measurable requirement of this 
application packet, the proposal shall clearly highlight the deviation and include the 
rationale.  
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Evaluation Criteria 
All responses to this request in proper form will be evaluated by the Project Team. Evaluation of 
proposals will consider the following criteria, among others:  

 Demonstrated development experience by the applicant in completing mixed-use projects 
and/or projects of a similar nature to that which is proposed.  

 Compatibility and appropriateness of the proposed project scope and design in relation to 
the Township’s stated goals.  

 Experience in developing projects with creative and innovative approaches.  
 

 Experience of principals and team members. Changes in key personnel prior to the 
execution of the Development Agreement may result in termination of any negotiations 
with a prospective developer and the Township.  

 Evidence of financial capability and ability to finance project. Examples of similar project 
financing experience strongly encouraged.  

 Demonstrated ability to deliver high quality projects on an established timeline.  

 Demonstrated ability to enter into a public / private partnership.  

 References – include up to three public agency references from communities or school 
districts where developer has successfully completed projects.  

 Any oOther criteria deemed important by the Township as important to evaluation of 
proposals, in its sole discretion.  

 

Selection Process  
The Township may appoint a selection committee to carefully review all proposals and will may 
schedule various sessions (i.e. interviews, project visits, etc.) with qualified Respondentsdeveloper 
candidates. This selection committee may include representatives of the Township Board of 
Trustees, Administration,  and/or DDA, or any other persons deemed appropriate in the sole 
discretion of the Board of Trustees. The selection committee may recommend one or more 
rRespondentsdevelopers to the Township Board, or decline to recommend any rRespondents. The 
Township Board of Trustees will , who will make final selection of one or more rRespondents or no 
rRespondent. 
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Proposed Schedule  
Northfield Township and its partners will review and evaluate all responses to this RFP. Staff may 
seek additional information upon receipt of a development proposal.  
 

The schedule for solicitation, receipt, and evaluation of proposals is anticipated to be as follows:  

 Pre-proposal meeting: January 17, 2018. 2PM Northfield Township Hall, 8350 Main St., 
Whitmore Lake, MI 

 Deadline for written questions, notice of intent to respond, and requests for additional 
information: January 31, 2018, 4:00 P.M. 

o By Email: Steve Aynes, Township Manager: ayness@Northfieldmi.gov  
o By Mail: 

Steve Aynes 
Township Manager 
Northfield Township  
8350 Main St. Whitmore Lake, Michigan 48189 

 Proposals Submitted: February 21, 2018, 4:00 P.M. 

 Steering Committee Evaluation Period: February 21, 2018 to March 21, 2018. 

 Board Evaluation Period and Selection of Development Proposals: Through April 2018. 
 

The Township may revise this schedule, which is provided solely as an estimate. Schedule updates 
will be posted to the Township website and distributed to respondents that attend the pre-proposal 
meeting, or submit questions or a notice of intent to respond. 
 

Additional Information 
For proposal submission:  

 RespondentsSubmitters shall submit 10 copies of the complete proposal package in addition 
to an electronic version of the proposal package (to the extent feasible) on CD.  

Submit to:  
Steve Aynes 
Township Manager  
Northfield Township  
8350 Main St.  
Whitmore Lake, Michigan 48189 

 

Anonymous Feedback  
The Township will accept anonymous feedback regarding the Request for Proposal. 

Submit to: 
Steve Aynes 
ayness@Northfieldmi.gov  
Township Manager  
Northfield Township  
8350 Main St.  
Whitmore Lake, Michigan 48189 

mailto:ayness@Northfieldmi.gov
mailto:ayness@Northfieldmi.gov
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NORTHFIELD 
TOWNSHIP 

Community Focused Strategic Pillars 

2017/2018 



Pillar Overview Summary 
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To increase 
the tax base 
while 
preserving the 
open space 
character of 
the township 
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Identify and 
implement a 
capital 
improvement 
plan for 
2017/2018 
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To create a 
positive 
Township 
image and to  
strengthen 
the township’s 
community 
identity 

The goals and milestones are broad statements of policy that will transcend changes in leadership and are what the township can aim for during the implementation of the various 
strategies. Specific strategies and action steps that the township can use are included within the various plan elements, and these will be evaluated through the lifespan of this plan. 



Operations and Efficiencies  
Priority  Goal Milestones 

Organizational 
Chart 

• Update the township organizational chart to 
reflect the new positions and level of reporting 

• When new positions are created by the board, 
update the organizational chart to reflect the new 
change(s). 

Township Board 
 Drafting of the organizational chart based on the 2014 organizational chart 
 Township Board to review the draft and update according to approved changes 
 Township Board to approve the updated organizational chart 

Office Streamlining  
• Update the Employee Handbook  
• Employee Salary Survey 
• Software and Hardware upgrades 

Employee Handbook 
 Personnel Committee will continue to review and evaluate the current Employee Handbook for any policy revisions 
 Draft the policy for the Township Board to review 
 Township Board to approve all revisions and/or additions 
 
Employee Salary Survey 
 The Township Manager and Public Safety Manager will provide an employee salary survey for non-union employees on an annual basis 

prior to the approval of the annual budgets.  
 The Township Board will review the Employee Salary Survey prior to the approval of the annual budget. 
 
Software and Hardware Upgrades 
 The Township Manager will evaluate the software and hardware upgrade needs annually. 
 The Township Manager will provide recommendations to the Township Board for consideration. 

 

Office Efficiencies 

• Improve the efficiencies of the Building 
Department  

• Office Space Efficiencies 
• Record Retention 

Building Department 
 The Township will develop  a business friendly development process 
 The Township Manager will evaluate the personnel needs of the Building Department  
 The Township Manager will provide recommendations to the Township Board for consideration 
 
Office Space Efficiencies 
 The Township Manager will evaluate the space needs of the administrative office 
 The Township Manager will provide recommendations to the Township Board for consideration 
 
Record Retention 
 The Township Manager will evaluate the needs and cost for digital record retention. 
 The Township Manager will provide recommendations to the Township Board for consideration. 
 



Financial Viability 
Priority  Goal Milestones 

Fund Balance  
• Township Board to maintain a fund balance of 

85% 

Increase the fund balance to 85% over time 
 The Township Manager will evaluate cost savings in the budget 
 The Township Manager will provide recommendations to the Township Board 
 Township Board to approve the plan to increase fund balance 

 

Community 
• Vacant properties  
• Acquisition of Summer Home Properties 
• Building and Park Use Policy 

Vacant Properties 
 The Township Manager and Assessor will evaluate the vacant properties for potential sale 
 The Township Manager will provide recommendations to the Township Board for consideration 
 The Township Board will review the recommendations and make a motion accordingly 
 The Township attorney will put the properties up for bid 
 
Acquisition of Summer Home Properties 
 The Parks and Recreation Committee will provide the Township Board a plan to acquire Summer Home Properties 
 The Parks and Recreation Committee will provide recommendations to the Township Board for consideration 
 
Building and Park Use Policy 
 The Township Manager and Public Safety Director will evaluate and co-draft the policy for Building and Park use 
 The Township Manager will provide the draft policy recommendations to the Township Board for consideration 
 The Township Board will review the draft policy and recommend any additions to the policy 
 The Township Board will finalize the policy with a motion accordingly 
 



Land Use and Development 
Priority  Goal Milestones 

75 Barker 
• Determine the business opportunities and usage 

of 75 Barker  
Business Opportunity 
 The DDA will evaluate and make recommendations to the Township Board for business opportunities 

Master Plan 

• Revitalization of Downtown 
• Land Preservation  
• Residential Development 
• Master Plan Updates 

Downtown Revitalization 
 DDA and Downtown Committee to promote the Downtown Strategic Plan  
 Northfield Village Development Initiative 

1. Submit RFP for Northfield Village Development (McKenna) 
 Township Board to approve all revisions and/or additions 
 
Land Preservation 
 The Township Board to establish a Land Preservation Committee 
 The Land Preservation Committee will establish By-laws to govern itself which will be approved by the Township Board 
 The Land Preservation Committee will establish their goals and objectives and present them to the Township Board 
 
Residential and Commercial Development 
 The Township Manager and Planner will promote identified areas of development with developers 
 
Master Plan Review 
 The Planning Commission and Planner will begin the Master Plan review update 

Other  
• Ordinances 
• Code Enforcement 
• Adams Billboard (North Village) 

Ordinances 
 The Planning Commission will evaluate the current ordinances or recommendations from other entities for creation or revision 
 The Planning Commission will create a draft revisions of the zoning ordinance and hold public hearings 
 The Planning Commission will provide recommendations to the board of trustees for consideration 
 After the Township Board adopts a revised ordinance(s), it will be published.  
 
Code Enforcement 
 The Township Manager will evaluate the code enforcement priorities in the township and make recommendations to the Township 

Board for consideration 
 
Adams Billboard 
 The Township Manager will follow up with Adams to evaluate the placement of a billboard on North Village Property 
 The Township Manager will provide recommendations to the Township Board for approval. 
 



Capital Improvement and Infrastructure 
Priority  Goal Milestones 

Waste Water 
Treatment Plant 

• Improve the WWTP with upgrades and 
renovations to address current and future need 

• Audit of residential properties to ensure database 
accuracy  
 

Rate Study 
 Township Board, Township Manager, WWTP Manager and Township Engineering firm will determine the necessity of a rate study 
 Township Board will adopt the recommendations or choose an alternative course 
 
Equalization Basin 
 Township Board, Township Manager, WWTP Manager and Township Engineering firm will determine the necessity of an Equalization 

Basin 
 Township Board will adopt the recommendations or choose an alternative course 
 
Upgrades and Repairs to Transmission Lines 
 Township Board, Township Manager, WWTP Manager and Township Engineering firm will determine the necessity of upgrades and 

repairs to Transmission Lines and determine the course of funding. 
 Township Board will adopt the recommendations or choose an alternative course 
 
Residential Audit 
 Township Manager and WWTP Manager to provide recommendations for audit 
 Township Board to review recommendation 

Public Safety 
Building 

• Rental of the second floor  
• Upgrade/renovate HVAC System 
• Build Out of Second Floor for Township Usage 

Second Floor 
 The Township Manager to evaluate the capability to rent out the second floor  

1. Bond Counsel 
2. Attorney 

 The Township Manager will provide recommendations to the Township Board for consideration 
 
HVAC System 
 The Township Manager and Public Safety Manager will see bids for upgrade/renovation of the HVAC System 
 The Township Manager will provide recommendations to the Township Board for consideration 
 
Township Usage 
 The Township Manager will evaluate the need to build out on the second floor 
 The Township Manager will provide recommendations to the Township Board for consideration. 

Road 
Improvements 

• Identify road improvement within the township 
 The township board will meet with the Road Commission annually to review the county budget, the county needs analysis and 

determine the strategy for road improvements for the upcoming year 
 Allocate funding in the fiscal budget for road improvements as approved by the township board 



Capital Improvement and Infrastructure continue 
Priority  Goal Milestones 

Community Center 

• Railroad Easement Acquisition 
• Parking Lot Expansion 
• Handicap Accessible Door – Lower Level 
• All Signage 
• Sidewalk repairs 

Railroad Easement Acquisition 
 Township Manager will research the acquisition of the railroad easement 
 Township Manager will provide recommendations to the Township Board for consideration 
 
Parking Lot Expansion 
 Township Manager will seek bids for parking lot expansion upon Township Board direction 
 Township Manager will provide recommendations to the Township Board for consideration 
 
Handicap Accessible Door – lower level 
 Township Manager will work with the Kiwanis Club of Whitmore Lake for funding and project management 
 Township Manager will provide recommendations to the Township Board for consideration 
 
All Signage 
 Township Manager will issue bids for signage updates upon Township Board direction 
 Township Manager will provide recommendations to the Township Board for consideration 
 
Sidewalk repairs 
 Township Manager will issue bids for sidewalk improvements upon Township Board direction 
 Township Manager will provide recommendations to the Township Board for consideration 

 

Community 

• Culvert Repairs throughout the Township 
• Repair of existing Sidewalk along East Shore 

Drive 
• Non-motorized Pathways and Trails throughout 

the Township 

 
Culvert Repairs 
 The Township Manager will meet with the County Road Commission to evaluate the necessity to repair culverts in the township 
 Township Manager will provide recommendations to the Township Board for consideration 
 
Sidewalk Repairs 
 The Township Manager will meet with the County Road Commission, Township Engineer and Planner (if applicable) to evaluate the 

repair of existing sidewalk along East Shore Drive and Barker Road. 
 Township Manager will provide recommendations to the Township Board for consideration 
 
Non-motorized Pathways and Trails  
 The Township Manager and/or the Parks and Rec Committee will provide recommendations based on grant opportunities 
 The Township Manager and/or the Parks and Rec Committee will provide recommendations to the Township Board for consideration 



Capital Improvement and Infrastructure continue 
Priority  Goal Milestones 

75 Barker  
• Improvements to the Building 
• Improvements to the Parking Lot 

 
Building Improvements 
 The DDA will make recommendations to the Township Board prioritizing the maintenance and improvement needs 
 The Township Board will authorize work to be done as appropriate 
 
Parking Lot Improvements 
 The DDA will evaluate the cost of parking signage and seek bids if appropriate 

 



Public Relations 
Priority  Goal Milestones 

Communications 
• Communications to and from the Township 

Board 
• Communications to and from the Community 

 
Township Board, Community, and Single Source 
 Website  

1. The Township Manager will evaluate the website improvements and needs 
2. The Township Manager will provide recommendations to the Township Board 
3. Updates will be made accordingly to the website 
4. If new website is needed, the Township Board will review recommendations 

 Courant 
1. The Township Manager will provide a Letter to the Editor at least quarterly on the status of the township 

      Single Source 
1. Community Announcements – Facebook, Website, Newsletter (Tax Bill) 

 

Board Relations 
• Joint meetings with WLPS School Board,  NTPL, 

Township Commissions and Committees 

 
Commissions 
 Schedule joint board meeting with the Planning Commission at least once per year 
 
WLPS School Board 
 Schedule joint board meeting with the Whitmore Lake Public School Board at least once per year 
 
Northfield Township Public Library  
 Schedule joint meeting with the Northfield Township Public Library Board at least once per year 
 
Committees 
 Encourage committee presentations at the Northfield Township Board meeting at least twice per year 

 

Township Brand • Develop a marketing plan for the township 

 
Marketing Plan 
 The Township Manager will evaluate a marketing plan for the township 
 The Township Manager will provide recommendations to the Township Board 
 The Township Board will review the recommendations and make a motion accordingly 

 














































































